



STUDENT REPORT

Master Thesis

Sustainability in the wind industry: An approach of translating organisational-level sustainability targets to product-level and improve the capacity of design departments to create more sustainable products

Aalborg University - Campus Copenhagen MSc Sustainable Design Engineering

Student: Lukas Allekotte Supervisors: Andrés Felipe Valderrama Pineda Monia Niero

Partner organisation: Vestas Wind Systems A/S Supervisor at partner organisation: Peter Garrett

No. of characters (with spaces): 155,220 Date: 3rd of June 2022



Table of Contents

G	Glossaryi						
A	Abstractii						
A	Acknowledgementsiii						
1	Intr	troduction1					
2	Ove	erview of the case study organisation: Vestas4					
	2.1	Vestas' sustainability strategy					
	2.2	Vestas' challenges & focus of this thesis					
	2.3	Background on design departments and modularisation9					
3 Literature Review							
	3.1	Implementation and execution of sustainability strategies10					
	3.2	Sustainability target setting and translation11					
	3.3	LCA in the product development process15					
	3.4	Eco-efficiency					
	3.5	Eco-Design					
4	Res	earch question and scope19					
5 Methodology							
	5.1	Case study21					
5.1.1 The approach applied to the case study							
5.1.2 The top-down approach							
	5.1.	3 The bottom-up approach23					
	5.2	Desk research & document review					
	5.3	Observation					
	5.4	Calculations					
	5.5	Life Cycle Assessment25					
	5.6	Interviews					
6	Fin	dings27					



6.1 Top-down approach	27				
6.1.1 Translation: organisational-level target to product-level target	28				
6.1.2 Identification of material hot spots	44				
6.1.3 Setting foci for design departments	47				
6.1.4 Conducting LCAs to evaluate design improvements and progress towards targe50	ets				
6.1.5 Conclusion on the top-down approach	52				
6.2 Bottom-up approach	55				
6.2.1 Findings from desk research and observation	56				
6.2.2 Interview findings: Sustainability challenges	59				
6.2.3 Interview findings: Sustainability opportunities	66				
6.2.4 Conclusions on the bottom-up approach	74				
7 Discussion & reflection	77				
7.1 Findings compared to previous research	77				
7.2 General applicability of the findings	78				
7.3 Scientific contribution and contribution to Sustainable Design Engineering	79				
7.4 Discussion of the project approach and limitations	79				
7.5 Outlook and further research	81				
8 Conclusion	82				
References					
Appendix A					
Appendix B					



List of Tables

Table 1: Vestas environmental sustainability targets - carbon footprint	7
Table 2: Fictional product portfolio	29
Table 3: Share of MWh per turbine model in 2021	34
Table 4: Annual GHG emission intensity targets	36
Table 5: Annual GHG emission intensity targets (non-adjusted)	42
Table 6: Annual GHG emission intensity targets (adjusted)	43
Table 7: Material percent contribution to total emissions	45



List of Figures

Figure 1: Reading guide	3
Figure 2: Project approach	22
Figure 3: Top-down approach	27
Figure 4: Wind Europe outlook 2021 - 2026	29
Figure 5: Extended forecast until 2030	30
Figure 6: Turbine model percent share of annual sales – Onshore	31
Figure 7: Annual GW installed per turbine model	32
Figure 8: MWh forecast per turbine model	33
Figure 9: Fleet GHG emission intensity reduction curve	
Figure 10: Emission intensity trajectories compared	37
Figure 11: Total GHG emissions compared	37
Figure 12: Annual total GHG emissions Onshore Model 1+2 vs. total allowed ann	ual GHG
emissions	
Figure 13: Allowed emissions for Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3	40
Figure 14: Allowed emissions allocated to Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3	41
Figure 15: GHG emission intensity reduction trajectories (adjusted)	43
Figure 16: GHG emission forecast split by material contribution (no-action scenario))46
Figure 17: Percent contribution to CO2 per Turbine Platform	48
Figure 18: Material contribution to carbon footprint per design department	49
Figure 19: Generic target translation process	52
Figure 20: Generic material hot spot identification approach I	53
Figure 21: Generic material hot spot identification approach II	54
Figure 22: Bottom-up approach	55
Figure 23: Interview findings: Design challenges	59
Figure 24: Interview findings: Resource challenges	62
Figure 25: Interview findings: Integration challenges	63
Figure 26: Interview findings: External drivers/enablers	66
Figure 27: Interview findings: Internal drivers/enablers	67
Figure 28: Interview findings: Tools	70
Figure 29: Interview findings: Design opportunities	72
Figure 30: Conclusions: Bottom-up approach	74



Figure 31: Conclusion - Generic process for translation of an organisational-level target to
product-level
Figure 32: Summary: Improving the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable
products



Glossary

Term	Explanation		
BoM	Bill of Materials		
kgCO ₂ e	Kilograms CO ₂ -equivalents		
GHG	Greenhouse Gas		
GW	Giga Watt		
kWh	kilo Watt hour		
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment		
LCoE	Levelized Cost of Energy		
MW	Mega Watt		
MWh	Mega Watt hour		
OEM	Original Equipment Manufacturer		
SBTi	Science Based Targets initiative		
SBT	Science-based target		
Scope 1 emissions	Scope 1 describes direct emissions of the organisation, which may occur		
	through its facilities and vehicles. (GHG Protocol, 2019)		
Scope 2 emissions	Scope 2 describes indirect emissions from purchased energy sources, such as		
	electricity, or heating and cooling. (GHG Protocol, 2019)		
Scope 3 emissions	Scope 3 encompasses all the indirect emissions caused by upstream and		
	downstream activities of the value chain. (GHG Protocol, 2013)		

Lukas Allekotte



Abstract

An ever-increasing number of companies set science-based targets and formulate sustainability strategies. Now they are challenged by the implementation of the strategy and the operationalisation of the targets within the organisation. Catering towards this need and filling an identified gap in the literature, this study aims to find a way to translate organisational-level sustainability targets to product-level and improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products. This is done via a case study of the wind turbine manufacturer Vestas, who faces above-mentioned challenges. Utilising the example of Vestas' science-based Scope 3 GHG reduction target, this thesis presents a process of translating the organisational-level target to product-level, including the identification of emission hot spots and definition of design departments' respective contribution share towards the product-level target. Finally, it investigates the sustainability opportunities and barriers seen by the design departments and identifies design departments' needs to be able to focus on the design of more sustainable products.

Key Words

Sustainability targets, Sustainability strategy, Translation of targets, Sustainable design, Life Cycle Assessment, Wind industry, Renewable energy



Acknowledgements

In this section, I would like to thank the people who have contributed to the project and made its completion possible. Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors Monia Niero and Andrès Felipe Valderrama Pineda from the Department of Planning at Aalborg University for their counselling, guidance, academic advice and encouragement throughout the course of the project. Secondly, I wish to thank Peter Garret, Senior Environmental Specialist at Vestas for his ideas, input, and guidance from start to end, and for letting me draw on his know-how and expertise around the wind industry, environmental sustainability and LCA. Thirdly, many thanks go to the Vestas employees who took the time to participate in my interviews and made it possible for me to collect the empirical data that brought this project to life. Lastly, I would like to thank Marlen Mietzner for proofreading the report and thereby contributing to a (hopefully) pleasant reading experience.



1 Introduction

In 2015, the Paris Agreement manifested that "[h]olding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2 °C above pre-industrial levels and to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels" (United Nations, 2015, p. 22) would be necessary to avoid the worst impacts of climate change. The agreement heralded a new era in the global governance of combatting climate change (Dimitrov, 2016; Falkner, 2016), as it defined a new polycentric system for climate governance (Ostrom, 2010) in which nations set individual Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emission reduction goals. To keep the global increase in temperature to 1.5 °C above pre-industrial levels, net-zero GHG emissions need to be reached by mid-century, which requires unprecedented efforts (IPCC, 2018). The UNEP Emissions Gap Report discloses that even if all current National Determined Contributions (NDCs) would be delivered successfully, the global temperature increase would only be limited to a 2.3 - 3.3 °C increase over pre-industrial levels (UNEP, 2021). Therefore, contributions from other entities, such as companies are needed, which play a vital role in achieving the goals of the Paris Agreement according to Wright & Nyberg (2017).

Companies contribute directly to GHG emissions through their operations (Scope 1), and indirectly through their purchased energy (Scope 2) (GHG Protocol, 2019), as well as through their upstream and downstream activities (Scope 3) (GHG Protocol, 2013), which are associated with the production, transportation, use and disposal of their products. Due to the significance of corporate GHG emissions, the Global Reporting Initiative has since 2002 encouraged companies to disclose their environmental performance in relation to "global limits on resource use and pollution levels" (GRI, 2002, p. 28). However, adoption of the approach lacked in the early stages (Bjørn et al., 2016). Here, companies set their corporate emission targets according to national climate policy, competitor benchmarks, consultancy advice, past performance, or achievability assessments (Rietbergen et al., 2015), with the intention of improving their strategic positioning and image (Dahlmann et al., 2019). First after the Paris Agreement's polycentric governance approach and the UNEP's Emission Gap Reports in 2016 and 2021 highlighting the insufficiency of national contributions (UNEP, 2016, 2021), pressure increased for companies and other non-state actors to take action and align their targets with the goals of the Paris Agreement. In 2015, the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) was created, which is a "partnership between CDP, the United Nations Global Compact, the World



Resources Institute, and the World Wide Fund for Nature" (Science Based Targets, 2022b) which provides companies with methods, guidelines and tools to set Paris-aligned GHG reduction targets and certifies them. Since 2015, more than 1,400 companies have set science-based targets (SBTs), with an exponential increase in companies seeking verification within recent years (Giesekam et al., 2021), which may be due to the fact that SBTs are now *"widely associated with serious intentions on climate action"* (Bjørn et al., 2022, p. 2). While SBTs are an excellent way of setting company-level targets and align the private sector with the temperature scenarios of the Paris Agreement, the methodology does not cover how the target can be translated within companies any further.

Apart from GHG emission reductions, there is increased focus and awareness on sustainability in general. Therefore, oftentimes GHG emission reduction commitments are not made standalone but as part of corporate sustainability strategies, covering both Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) aspects. An example of this is the wind industry, where GE Renewable Energy is part of its parent company GE's sustainability programme, and the other large western Original Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs) Enercon, Nordex, Siemens Gamesa and Vestas all pursuing their respective corporate sustainability strategies (Enercon, 2021; General Electric, 2022; Nordex, 2022; Siemens Gamesa, 2021; Vestas, 2022d). With their strategies, the Wind OEMs make commitments within Environmental Sustainability such as reducing their Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions, but also improving the circularity of their products, reducing waste and increasing the amount of waste for recycling. In terms of Social Sustainability, safety and diversity and inclusion commitments are made, and in terms of Governance, codes of conduct are introduced, to ensure ethical business and compliance with regulations. While the launch of sustainability strategies with a range of commitments clearly shows that sustainability gains more and more significance even in arguably already sustainable sectors like the wind industry, these strategies also represent significant challenges for the business in terms of implementation and execution throughout the organisation. This entails operationalising the commitments and targets made in the strategy to deliver upon them and investigating internal needs for aligning actions with the organisational-level target to be able to equip departments with the right set of knowledge and tools to execute the strategy. This thesis takes the Wind OEM Vestas as a case study, focuses on the company's challenges and conducts empirical research within the organisation. In the following, the organisation, its sustainability strategy and its challenges are presented, after the reading guide (see Figure 1).





Figure 1: Reading guide



2 Overview of the case study organisation: Vestas

The partner organisation of this research and subject of this case study is the Danish Wind OEM Vestas Wind Systems A/S. In 2022, Vestas is the world's largest Wind OEM with a revenue of EUR 15.6 bn and an employee count of 29,000 (Vestas, 2022e).

2.1 Vestas' sustainability strategy

After a long time with an attitude of 'Sustainability is the business, we are in' the company realised that just providing renewable energy was not sufficient. Customers, shareholders and other stakeholders increasingly focused on sustainability that went beyond the wind turbine that produced renewable electricity. The carbon footprint of the organisation, its production and supply chain became to matter, as well as the circularity of its products, the safety, diversity and well-being of its employees.

To respond to this, in February 2020, Vestas launched its corporate sustainability strategy called 'Sustainability in Everything We Do'. As such, it was the first Wind OEM to launch a comprehensive, overarching sustainability strategy bundling all sustainability activities in the organisation. When defining what sustainability means for Vestas, the company refers to the Brundtland Commission's definition of sustainability, which reads as follows:

"Sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." (United Nations, 1987, p. 54)

Based on this, Vestas defines sustainability for themselves as:

"Sustainability at Vestas means reducing or eliminating negative environmental and social impacts. It also means maximising the value that our business and products provide for our customers, employees, shareholders, suppliers, local communities, and the planet at large." (Vestas, 2022d, p. 9)



When this report mentions 'sustainability' it is referred to the above definition. The company expands on its sustainability definition by stating:

"It involves upholding sustainability in governance structures, whereby we hold ourselves accountable to internationally recognized principles and standards; whereby we act with integrity and responsibility, and safeguard responsible processes and renumerations. "(Vestas, 2022d, p. 9)

Vestas' sustainability strategy contains commitments in four overarching fields:

- 1. Carbon footprint
- 2. Circularity
- 3. People
- 4. Leadership

From these fields it is evident that the strategy does not only focus on environmental sustainability but also on social responsibility (People) and economic and strategic aspects (Leadership).

Each of the fields contains one key goal (as shown below):

- Carbon neutrality by 2030 without carbon offsets
- Producing zero-waste wind turbines by 2040
- Becoming the safest, most inclusive & socially responsible company in the energy industry
- Leading the transition towards a world powered by sustainable energy

This thesis' focus lies on environmental sustainability and carbon footprint in particular, which is why the following abstract describes Vestas' carbon footprint targets more in detail.

Within the carbon footprint field of Vestas' sustainability strategy, the overarching goal is to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030 in their own operations (covering Scope 1 and Scope 2) without the use of carbon offsets. The company states that *"the problem with carbon offsets is it can be very difficult to ascertain that the projects invested in are real, measurable, permanent and that they would not have taken place without the finance provided by the sale of credits"* (Vestas, 2022c). Due to this reasoning, Vestas decided against the use of carbon offsets to achieve carbon neutrality in their own operations. Consequently, the target is an absolute target



meaning that Vestas will reduce their carbon emissions by 100 % by 2030. Moreover, it is verified by the Science Based Target initiative, which confirmed that the target *"is in line with the high-ambition level required to keep global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial temperatures"* (Vestas, 2022a). Vestas aims to achieve these reductions by switching their electricity consumption to 100 % renewable electricity, replacing their heating and air conditioning systems in their factories with renewable sources, exchanging their benefit car and service vehicle fleet with battery electric and sustainably fuelled vehicles, and for offshore operations replacing conventional service vessels with alternative, sustainably fuelled vessels.

Vestas' second goal in the carbon footprint field is the reduction of their Scope 3 emissions, which make up more than 99 % of the company's total emissions. Here, Vestas sets itself the target to reduce CO₂ emissions from their supply chain by 45 % per Mega Watt hour (MWh) generated by 2030. This is a relative target, or GHG emission intensity target, which was set deliberately to still allow the business to grow in the future. Nonetheless, the target has been verified by the Science Based Targets initiative for being in line with the ambition level to keep global warming to 2.0 °C above pre-industrial levels. The Science Based Targets initiative requires at least two thirds of emissions to be covered by a target for Scope 3 (Science Based Targets, 2021). In alignment with this, Vestas' Scope 3 target covers a 45 % reduction per MWh of 70 % of its total Scope 3 emissions. Vestas Scope 3 emissions are calculated with the help of Life Cycle Assessments (LCAs). The company has conducted LCAs for each of its turbine models, which disclose the Global Warming Potential in gCO₂e/kWh¹ and can be converted to kgCO₂e/MWh². The reduction is then measured annually upon the global average emission intensity for the turbines delivered in the respective year. To achieve the Scope 3 target, the company's approach is initially to partner with their so called 'strategic' suppliers, which cover the majority of Vestas' material spend. These suppliers will introduce measures to both calculate and reduce carbon emissions. This entails for instance switching to 100 % renewable electricity. Once proven and matured, the approach will be extended to smaller suppliers as well.

¹ Grams CO₂-equivalent per kilo Watt hour

² Kilograms CO₂-equivalent per Mega Watt hour



Table 1 provides a summary of Vestas' carbon footprint related targets and actions.

Carbon footprint							
Emission Scope	Scope 1	Scope 2	Scope 3				
Target	Reducing CO ₂ emissions in o by 100 % by 2030, without us offsets	wn operations sing carbon	Reduce the CO ₂ emissions from our supply chain by 45 % per MWh generated by 2030				
Science Based Target initiative verification	Verified for keeping global w 1.5 °C above pre-industrial le	varming to vels	Verified for keeping global warming to 2.0 °C above pre-				
			industrial levels				
Actions	100 % renewable electricity c (achieved in 2020)	consumption	Partnering with 'strategic' suppliers covering the majority of Vestas' material spend				
	Replacement of air condition	ing and heating	Suppliers required to calculate and report on emissions for products delivered to Vestas				
	Exchanging benefit cars and s with battery electric and susta vehicles	service vehicles	Suppliers required to commit to switching to 100 % renewable electricity				
	Replacing offshore service ve sustainably fuelled alternative	essels with					

Vestas environmental sustainability targets

Table 1: Vestas environmental sustainability targets - carbon footprint

All three of Vestas' carbon footprint targets have been verified by the Science Based Targets initiative. The company reports on its carbon footprint in quarterly financial reports and its



annual sustainability report. For reporting its environmental impacts, Vestas uses the existing Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's Sustainability Accounting Standard, which offers structure for reporting of enterprise ESG impacts and transparency for stakeholders (SASB, 2018; Vestas, 2022d). The reported Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions are calculated from internally collected operations data, while LCA methodology according to the ISO 14044:2006 standard is utilised to calculate environmental impacts of its individual wind turbine models as well as its Scope 3 emissions. Finally, Vestas reports data to select sustainability indices like Carbon Disclosure Project, Corporate Knights, Dow Jones Sustainability Indices, and ISS ESG (CDP, 2022; Corporate Knights, 2022; Dow Jones Indices, 2022; ISS ESG, 2022). The scores are publicly available on the company's website (Vestas, 2022b).

2.2 Vestas' challenges & focus of this thesis

Vestas' sustainability department, a global function in the organisation, is responsible for the formulation and implementation of the sustainability strategy as well as for reporting upon its progress. With the sustainability strategy launched in February 2020, the organisation is now at a point where measures which can be taken on the global company-level to achieve Scope 1 and 2 reductions have mostly been introduced, such as switching to 100 % renewable electricity. Since Scope 1 and 2 can be controlled relatively well and represent less than 1 % of Vestas' total GHG emissions, this paper's focus is in particular on the Scope 3 target. Vestas' challenge here lies not only in committing suppliers to sustainability actions, such as setting their own GHG emission reduction targets, but also committing its own organisation to the target and operationalise it within the relevant departments that can meaningfully contribute to Scope 3 reductions. Since the company's Scope 3 emissions are connected to the life cycle of its products, the relevant departments that need to be involved are the different design departments, as well as procurement. With a governance structure in place and sustainability champions in each of Vestas' design departments and procurement, the organisation's global sustainability department now sees the need to make the Scope 3 target more tangible by cascading it down to the design departments and supply them with the necessary knowledge and tools to achieve it. This is the challenge that is intended to be solved by this master thesis. It deals with how the Scope 3 target can be made tangible for and translated to the different departments in the organisation, how their contribution to it can be measured, responsibilities be assigned, and how progress towards the target can be tracked. It aims to conduct, follow and describe the organisational flow-down and methods utilised to translate the organisational-level



Scope 3 target into product-level targets and targets for the individual design departments. Moreover, it investigates, through a number of interviews with employees in the blades design department, whether these targets would support them and what other support in terms of e.g. tools and knowledge is needed to design more environmentally sustainable products.

2.3 Background on design departments and modularisation

In order to ease the reader's understanding of this study's findings the organisational setup of the design departments is described in more detail. For this, it is important to note that Vestas has transitioned towards modular turbine designs. "The main purpose of modularity is to carry over proven technologies and well-established smart solutions from one tailored product platform to another" (de Vries, 2020). By re-using components and assemblies in different products, both product and process flexibility are improved, and road transport can be optimised. This enables quick responses to dynamic market needs (de Vries, 2020). This modularity approach is also reflected in Vestas' organisational structure. Due to confidentiality reasons, the full organisational module structure will not be disclosed, however an approximate example is provided. In the modular structure, the organisation is divided into different design departments, so called 'Design Modules', which are each responsible for designing a range of different components, so called 'Configuration Modules'. For the sake of simplicity, the 'Design Modules' are called 'design departments' in this report and 'Configuration Modules' are called 'components'. To provide an example, the tower design department is responsible for designing the majority of components for the tower, while e.g. parts of the internals can be designed by another design department. The design departments follow a stage-gate-model product development process that describes what, when and how to deliver in a product development project. This product development process contains standardised milestones, activities, and deliveries within each gate which can be tailored in the projects depending on the project scope. Moreover, it contains a range of design requirements and turbine level and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the design departments to reach at the gates. For this study, several employees in Vestas' blades design department have been interviewed (see results in Section 6.2) to investigate their needs for support from the organisation to design more environmentally sustainable products and to evaluate whether the translation of organisational-level targets to product-level targets, as well as targets for the different design departments would be of support to them.

Lukas Allekotte



3 Literature Review

As this thesis focuses on the challenge of implementing and executing an organisational-level sustainability target within an organisation, literature on the following topics is reviewed.

- Sustainability strategy implementation and execution (success-factors)
- Sustainability target setting and translation (methods)

Due to the challenge of enabling design departments to deliver upon environmental sustainability targets, the following topics are reviewed.

- Implementation of LCA in the product development process
- Eco-Efficiency concept
- Eco-Design

3.1 Implementation and execution of sustainability strategies

In the light of climate change as well as increasing customer demand for sustainable solutions, an increased number of companies intend to follow the goals of the Paris Agreement with their actions (Giesekam et al., 2021). Often this involves launching sustainability strategies including dedicated carbon footprint reduction targets. The main external drivers for corporate sustainability (CS) are found to be reputation, customer demand and expectations, as well as regulation and legislation, whereas internally it is mostly driven by leadership and business cases (Lozano, 2015). However, when formulated and launched, sustainability strategies present organisations with several challenges around its implementation in the organisation and its execution, which several scholars have investigated.

Engert & Baumgartner (2016) find that six factors are decisive in successfully implementing a corporate sustainability strategy: organisational structure, organisational culture, leadership, management control, employee motivation and qualifications, and communication. Their research shows that for sustainability strategy implementation, it is essential that strategies, organisational structure and organisational processes fit together. Moreover, they find the necessity for a clear definition of sustainability plus an associated vision. These ease integrating sustainability into the organisational culture.

Manninen & Huiskonen (2022) added to this by defining organisation-related and employeerelated success factors, as well as listing internal activities advancing the implementation of



integrated corporate sustainability and business strategies. They find that setting measurable and role dependent targets, such as business unit sustainability targets can advance the implementation of a sustainability strategy, since it enables *"employees to contribute to company level sustainability targets"* (Manninen & Huiskonen, 2022, p. 7), whereas it is harder for them to relate to the organisational level targets. Moreover, the study confirms previous findings that when sustainability targets being integrated in employees' personal KPIs, it becomes easier for them to focus on sustainability and connect it with their daily work (Manninen & Huiskonen, 2022), which is in line with goal-setting theory stating that goals channel attention and effort on activities relevant to achieve the goal rather and away from activities that are less relevant to achieving the goal (Locke & Latham, 2002).

Regarding the implementation of environmental strategies in manufacturing companies, Bey et al. (2013) find that major barriers are the lack of information on environmental impacts, lack of specialist knowledge, the difficulty of finding alternative materials and components, as well as the constraint of no additional resources being allocated to the tasks. Additionally, drivers for environmental strategies were identified as legislation, customer demand as well as proactivity. According to their conclusion, it is recommended to check and improve information flows, pursue the application of product lifecycle management, establish a clear management structure and 'Eco-champions' throughout the company, and follow prelegislative dialogues.

The review of literature on the implementation and execution of sustainability strategies uncovered a number of success factors, internal activities and barriers. This study intends to add to these with specific success factors, barriers and needs for design departments to design more sustainable products. Moreover, the findings from the review above are compared to the findings from this case study and evaluated upon in Section 7.

3.2 Sustainability target setting and translation

In the past, a number of scholars have studied different approaches of formulating corporate GHG emission reduction as well as energy efficiency improvement targets (Margolick & Russel, 2001; Rietbergen & Blok, 2010; Rosenberg et al., 2012). Rietbergen & Blok (2010) developed a taxonomy distinguishing between different types of targets: absolute/volume



reduction targets, physical efficiency improvement targets, economic intensity improvement targets and economic targets.

More recently, Rietbergen et al. (2015) explain the target setting process in the CO₂ performance ladder, which is a "certifiable scheme for energy management and carbon accounting that is used as a tool for green public procurement in the Netherlands" (Rietbergen et al., 2015, p. 549). They find that both top-down and bottom-up approaches are applied by companies for setting GHG reduction targets. In the top-down target-setting process, companies take reference in e.g. national climate policies, benchmarks with other companies, and consultancy proposals for credible minimum values or ambitious targets, to set targets for the entire company without carefully analysing the reduction potential. Instead, the feasibility of the targets is then checked through a bottom-up process. In the bottom-up target setting process, a GHG emission inventory is created, where hot spots and reduction potentials through possible reduction measures are identified. Afterwards a number of measures are selected, and the target is calculated according to the reduction impact of select initiatives. Finally, the targets get approved by higher management. The study found that 60 % of the interviewed companies applied a top-down approach and 40 % a bottom-up approach. The top-down approach was popular among large companies, while the bottom-up approach became more dominant when companies renew their GHG reduction targets. (Rietbergen et al., 2015) When the bottom-up approach is taken, a clear pathway for achieving the target is already produced in the process, as the share of GHG emission reductions per initiative is calculated. However, the study does not describe further, how companies taking the top-down approach for setting corporate GHG reduction targets, split these into targets for different functions or split the share of reductions onto different initiatives. Additionally, they criticise that "target-setting practice is not a rigorous and uniform process mainly due to the lack of well-defined criteria and incomplete conformity checks" (Rietbergen et al., 2015, p. 559).

Since then, the Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) has been established in 2015, which acts as a verification body for SBTs and supplies companies with methods, tools and guidance for calculating SBTs. Faria & Labutong (2020) find that there are four methods for setting science-based corporate GHG emission targets (SBTs): the sectoral decarbonisation approach (SDA) (Krabbe et al., 2015; Science Based Targets, 2015); the GHG emissions per unit of value added (GEVA) approach (Randers, 2012) ; the corporate finance approach to climate



stabilising targets (C-FACT) (Stewart & Deodhar, 2009); the linear emission reduction to target year (LERTY), also known as Absolute Contraction Approach (ACA) (Faria & Labutong, 2020). With the SDA method, either absolute GHG emission reduction targets or physical intensity targets can be calculated. With the GEVA and C-FACT emission intensity targets can be calculated, and with the LERTY/ACA method absolute emission reduction targets can be calculated. All methods require the following input values: base year, base year emissions, growth projections, GHG intensity, activity, and target year. As an output, the target year value or a pathway expressed either as absolute emission or emission intensity is provided. (Faria & Labutong, 2020) A similar evaluation of methods for setting SBTs has been made by Bjørn et al. (2021), who also developed a characterisation of methods to present them in a systematic way and criticised the SBTi for a lack of transparency when recommending certain methods. While all methods translate the temperature targets set by the Paris agreement to quantifiable GHG emission reduction targets on organisational-level, they do not cover, how these targets can be further translated to lower levels within the organisation.

Moshrefi et al. (2020) deal with operationalisation of SBTs within an organisation through product portfolio analysis, which is how companies select the most advantageous product portfolio for achieving their financial targets. Their proposed methodology is an adaptation of the Boston Consulting Group (BCG) matrix or Growth-Share matrix (Hax & Majluf, 1983) for conducting product portfolio analysis and takes into account a products' environmental impacts, market growth and volume. Similar to the BCG matrix, their Total Environmental Impact-Total Profit matrix is a two-by-two matrix dividing products into environment-profit stars, environment-profit cash cows, environment-profit question marks and environment-profit dogs. As such, it provides an overview of which products support the company in meeting its SBTs while at the same time generating profits, supporting environmentally conscious strategic decisions on products, families, and new product development. (Moshrefi et al., 2020) While providing a tool for strategic decision making towards achieving SBTs, this method does, however, not cover how product-level targets can be set from an organisational-level SBT.

Rekker et al. (2022) propose a science-based approach for measuring corporate Paris compliance. Their Paris-Compliant Pathway (PCP) takes a previously calculated SBT with one of the recognised Paris-aligned methods as basis and sets a range of operationalisation



requirements. Firstly, when the SBT was set with a methodology relying upon a future variable, such as market share or sales forecasts, it is required that this variable is adjusted as soon as updated information on it is available. Secondly, an annual reduction target of the PCP is not met, 're-alignment' needs to be carried out, which means that the failure of meeting the reduction target needs to be compensated for by increased reductions in the following years. Thirdly, in *"case of a merger or acquisition the combined company must reduce its emissions as if both companies have been one company since the base year"* (Rekker et al., 2022, p. 7), and fourthly, in case the company in question is newly founded, it is given five years to establish its market share and emission, after which a PCP needs to be established. The company's performance against the PCP is then measured according to three metrics: performance to date (measured against base year), projected performance, and re-alignment decarbonisation rate. (Rekker et al., 2022) This work enables companies to stay Paris-aligned throughout their pathway towards their SBT. It is through another approach focussing on the organisational-level target and does not provide any guidance on how it can be broken down further in the organisation.

According to Giesekam et al. (2021), more and more companies seek to verify their targets with the SBTi. Their assessment of a selected number of companies' progress towards their verified targets showed that especially the progress towards Scope 3 emission targets lagged behind. This may be because it is more challenging to influence emissions that the company is only indirectly responsible for than emissions that the company can directly control by its operations. Another aspect could be that it is challenging to translate organisation-level Scope 3 targets into targets on product or department level, due to their complexity.

Rogelj et al. (2021) criticise both countries and companies setting net-zero targets for their vagueness and lacklustre plans. They call for clarification of three aspects of the targets set: *"their scope; how they are deemed adequate and fair; and concrete road maps towards and beyond net zero"* (Rogelj et al., 2021, p. 366). In the target scope, clarifications are needed in terms of which temperature goal the target contributes to, which GHGs are covered by the commitment and what share of reductions, removal and offsets is intended. In adequacy and fairness, it is called for a clarification of the principles applied and how they will affect others. Finally, it is called for concrete road maps and implementation plans, including milestones, policies, and specification of monitoring and review systems. This



last call especially emphasises the need for further translation of high-level targets to lowerlevel incremental targets including more concrete steps and action plans.

For translating product-level life cycle sustainability targets over modules, production systems, individual production lines all the way to technology and tool level, Rödger et al. (2016; 2019) propose the sustainability cone framework, which is aligned with the stage-gate-model product development process and can enable production line planners to apply life cycle thinking to the manufacturing process. It enables a fact-based approach of tracking performance towards environmental sustainability targets on the respective production level and towards the overall product-level sustainability target. The framework has potential of being applied across other industries, however, the gap that the framework does currently not address is the alignment between organisational-level targets and product-level targets. In their example of the automotive industry, it is stated that *"[t]he strategy department besides others sets absolute environmental and financial targets for [the] product and those are translated by the designers into base specifications"* (Rödger & Bey, 2019, p. 80). The setting of product-level GHG reduction targets in line with the company's SBT and its further translation is where this thesis sets it focus.

From this literature review of sustainability target setting and translation a gap has been identified between the literature that focuses on setting organisational-level sustainability targets, like SBTs, and the literature that focuses on translating product-level sustainability targets to the different manufacturing steps like the sustainability cone framework. This gap is the translation step between the organisational-level target and the product-level target.

3.3 LCA in the product development process

Due to the importance of LCA for the calculation of both Vestas' products' environmental impacts and the company's Scope 3 emissions, a review of existing studies on the implementation of LCA in the product development process is conducted below.

The Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is an established tool, which assesses a product or service's impacts throughout its entire life cycle spanning from raw material extraction all the way to End-of-Life. It follows a standardised procedure defined in the ISO 14040-44 standard with



four phases: definition of goal and scope, inventory analysis, impact assessment, and finally, interpretation of the results (ISO, 2006).

By utilising LCAs, impact hot spots throughout the life cycle can be identified. These can be i.e. certain materials used or even entire life cycle phases. As such, LCA provides a basis for product or service improvement, and is often associated with eco-efficiency (Hauschild et al., 2020) (see Section 3.4). Due to this, Luz et al. (2018) developed a methodology for the integration of LCA into the product development process, aimed at supporting companies in developing sustainable products, and concluded that information drawn from LCA can be used in all phases of the product development process. In the planning phase, hot spots identified by LCA can be utilised to identify improvement strategies. In the conceptual design phase, LCA scenario analysis can support selecting the product solution with the best environmental performance improvements relative to the reference product. In the testing phase, it can help review and evaluate whether the environmental objectives for the product have been met. Finally, at product launch, the environmental performance data from the LCA can be published to create transparency and support marketing material. (Luz et al., 2018)

In a study on the introduction of life cycle thinking in product development in the wind industry, Bonou et al. (2015) found that the application of LCAs in the product development process can "[p]rioritize target setting related to the impact intensity, the improvement potential and the feasibility for each stakeholder" (Bonou et al., 2015, p. 47) as well as prioritising actions across the product development process and across company stakeholders. Moreover, LCAs can contribute by identifying potentials for energy and waste reduction throughout the life cycle. The paper also found that due to the nature of the product development process in the wind industry, sustainability considerations need to be made at the very beginning of the process, during the approval of product development specifications, because after this stage no structural changes to the product can be undertaken. As such "product material related environmental targets should be part of the product requirement specifications (PRS) defined during scoping" (Bonou et al., 2015, p. 47). This is similar to what Rödger et. al (2016; 2019) state in their studies on integration of sustainability assessments and targets in car manufacturing. Moreover, a need for a dynamic process was



identified, in which each design iteration is informed by LCA results, so that at any point the environmental performance of the product can be accurately reflected.

3.4 Eco-efficiency

LCA is tightly associated with the eco-efficiency concept. Given the vital role of LCA in this study, it is heavily leaning into the concept. Hence, it needs an introduction.

The eco-efficiency concept can be defined as "adding maximum value with minimum resource" use and minimum pollution" (Huesemann, 2004, p. 264) and as such aims to reduce the negative environmental footprint of human activities. According to Bjørn & Hauschild (2013), during the past decades eco-efficiency "has gained wide acceptance as a necessary [...] means to ensure sustainability through technological innovation" (Bjørn & Hauschild, 2013, p. 322). Moreover, it "has been accepted as the key strategic theme for global business in relation to commitments and activities directed at sustainable development" (Ehrenfeld, 2005, p. 6) as it combines two aspects of sustainable development, namely environment and economics. Furthermore, eco-efficiency can be related to the I=PAT equation, which expresses that environmental impacts (I) are equal to the product of population (P), the material affluence per capita (A) and technology (T); where eco-efficiency is material affluence per environmental impact (1/T) (Bjørn & Hauschild, 2013). Improvement in eco-efficiency is commonly measured with LCAs, which is why it is a concept that is actively applied in this study. Eco-efficiency is criticised by Ehrenfeld (2005) for the lack of consideration of the Earth's carrying capacity, as the concept is only meaningful in the context of the economic model of sustainable development, which is based on standard economic theory assuming limitless

resources. It is suggested to couple the concept with other indicators and tools to become useful for decision-making.

3.5 Eco-Design

Eco-Design is linked to the concept of eco-efficiency and often a practical means of achieving it through design. In the ISO standard, Eco-Design is defined as a "systematic approach that considers environmental aspects in design and development with the aim to reduce adverse environmental impacts throughout the life cycle of a product" (ISO 14006, 2020, p. 3). In their Design for Sustainability framework, Ceschin et al. (2020) place Eco-Design in the product-level space as a technocentric and product focused approach of Design for Sustainability. As



such, it *"is considered the most suitable design framework for allowing engineers to perform environmentally conscious design and development of a product"* (Fargnoli et al., 2014, p. 31). Having been introduced in the 1990s, the field is very well developed. Engineers and product designers can refer to it for principles, guidelines, strategies and methods (Bovea & Pérez-Belis, 2011; Luttropp & Lagerstedt, 2006; Pigosso & McAloone, 2015). In a recent study, Brambila-Macias et al. (2021) add to the Eco-Design concept by suggesting a to support the implementation of Eco-Design in organisations by introducing the position of a 'Lifecycle Engineer', who could coordinate Eco-Design through their expertise in the field.

Faber et al. (2005) and de Pauw et al. (2015) describe Eco-Design as a relative approach, which it is criticised for. Eco-Design "starts with the present state of affairs and identifies existing problems, which people subsequently attempt to solve. Improvements take place incrementally. [...] In contrast to the absolute approach, the focus of this relative approach is not the good, but the less worse or better" (Faber et al., 2005, p. 8). De Pauw et al. (2015) criticised this relative approach since it puts designers in the predicament of having to envision and design sustainable innovations even though the current methods only lead them to optimise the already existing. When relating the relative approach to achieving sustainability, Ehrenfeld (2008) critiques that "[...] reducing unsustainability, although critical, does not and will not create sustainability" (Ehrenfeld, 2008, p. 7).

Lukas Allekotte



4 Research question and scope

The literature review reveals a gap been between the literature that focuses on setting organisational-level sustainability targets and the literature that focuses on translating product-level sustainability targets to different manufacturing steps. On the one hand, several methods for setting STBs exist, which align organisational-level targets with the goals of the Paris Agreement. On the other hand, a framework exists, which can translate product-level sustainability targets further to the different levels of manufacturing. The gap to be filled by this research is the translation step between the organisational-level target and the product-level level target.

The case study organisation faces the challenge of having to translate its organisational-level Scope 3 target to product level. Moreover, it sees the need to operationalise its Scope 3 target within its design departments. Based on this need from the case study organisation and the identified gap in the literature, this study's research question reads as follows:

How to translate organisational-level sustainability targets into product-level targets and improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products?

The focus lies on the Scope 3 target and environmental sustainability specifically. Other aspects of sustainability are out of this thesis' scope. The research question can be further divided into two main questions that each have several sub-questions.

- 1. How can organisational-level sustainability targets be translated into product-level targets?
 - What is the benefit of translating sustainability targets within the organisation?
 - \circ What tools, inputs and calculations are needed for the translation of the targets?
 - What are the calculation steps?
 - How can design departments' contribution shares to the product-level target be determined?
- 2. How to improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products?
 - Where do design departments see sustainability opportunities and barriers?
 - What support do design departments need from the organisation to design more sustainable products?



The approach taken to systematically answer the above research question and its sub-questions is described in the Methodology (see Section 5.1.1).



5 Methodology

To answer the research question and its sub-questions, this paper employs a case study as leading method, with methods like desk research, observation and interviews used for gathering of empirical data. Moreover, mathematical calculations were applied to calculate targets, which take LCA data and sales forecasts as basis. Each of these methods is described below.

5.1 Case study

This paper is defined by qualitative research as the leading method chosen is a case study. It was deemed that a setting in an organisation would be beneficial to answer and exemplify a solution to the research question. Even though case studies are excelling at particularisation (Stake, 1995), it has been found that generalisations from case studies can be made (Flyvbjerg, 2006). The general applicability of this case study's findings is discussed in Section 7.

The subject of this case study is the Danish Wind OEM Vestas Wind Systems A/S. The company was chosen because the author previously conducted a project with the organisation on Life Cycle Assessments and was affiliated with the organisation as a student worker. Since 2020, Vestas has a sustainability strategy with a number of organisational-level commitments around carbon footprint, circularity, safety, diversity and inclusion and leadership. Out of these commitments, the focus of the case study is on the carbon footprint, which is where the organisation was in need of a translation of their organisational-level target to product-level. Vestas' carbon footprint reduction commitment is split into a combined Scope 1+2 target and a Scope 3 target. The company wants to become carbon neutral in its own operations (Scope 1+2) by 2030 without the use of carbon offsets. Scope 1 and 2 emissions combined only make up approximately 1 % of the company's carbon footprint, and the company makes controlled progress toward reaching its 2030 target. Scope 3 emissions, however, make up 99 % of the company's total emissions and are more difficult to control. Here, Vestas set a target of reducing the emissions of its supply chain by 45 % per MWh produced and shipped by 2030. Since these emissions are indirect emissions from upstream and downstream activities, it is challenging to translate it into company-internal targets that can be measured and tracked. However, the sustainability department, a global function in the organisation, finds it necessary for the implementation and the execution of the sustainability strategy to set targets throughout the organisation and to be able to track progress towards the organisational-level target. This is where this thesis contributes and proposes an approach and a procedure. Furthermore, to



evaluate whether the introduction of these targets would support the design departments in working toward the organisational-level target, research is presented on what sustainability barriers and opportunities these departments see and what their need from the organisation is to design more sustainable products. The approach applied to the case study with Vestas is described in the paragraphs below.

5.1.1 The approach applied to the case study

To systematically work on answering the research questions and its sub-questions, this paper combines a top-down approach with a bottom-up approach that was followed when conducting the case study (see Figure 2). Both the top-down and the bottom-up approach are explained in detail below.



Figure 2: Project approach

5.1.2 The top-down approach

The top-down approach is about translating organisational-level sustainability targets into product-level targets, as well as determining the contribution share of each design department towards the product-level target. It takes reference in the organisational-level sustainability



targets and the organisational sustainability governance of the case study organisation, found through desk research, document review and observation. The translation is guided by the concepts of sustainability, eco-efficiency and Eco-Design. With the help of sales forecasts, focus products are identified and GHG emission forecasts for each product are created. The necessary GHG emission data per product is drawn from LCAs. Through this GHG emission forecast per product, the gap for reaching the reduction target can be identified. Once the gap is identified, the allowed emissions can be divided onto the products corresponding to their respective share of the annual sales volume. Based on the allowed emissions per product, product-level targets can be formulated. This is followed by an assessment of which materials contribute most to overall Scope 3 emissions to determine material hot spots that require immediate action. Finally, an investigation of each design department's contribution to product emissions is conducted to identify the most emission intensive design departments to be able to then set department-specific reduction foci.

5.1.3 The bottom-up approach

The bottom-up approach is taken for qualitative research in the case study organisation which is to evaluate whether there is a match between the perceived need by the global functions of the organisation to translate its organisational-level targets to product-level vs. the needs of the design teams to design more sustainable products.

For data gathering in a case study organisation, Stake (1995) recommends interviews, observation, and document reviews (desk research). To follow this approach, semi-structured interviews with employees in the blades design department at Vestas were conducted to answer the sub-questions on where design departments see sustainability opportunities and barriers and what support they need from the organisation to design more sustainable products. Moreover, the participant observation method was applied throughout the stay at the case study organisation and as part of desk research, an internal document review was conducted. These findings were then compiled with those of the interviews and are compared in Section 7 to findings from existing research. Each of the methods is described in more detail in the following paragraphs.



5.2 Desk research & document review

Firstly, desk research was conducted to review existing literature and the state of the art related to the topic of this thesis, which was then collected in the literature review (See section 3). For this, searches in Scopus have been conducted with suitable combinations of keywords, such as sustainability strategy implementation, sustainability strategy execution, sustainability target setting, sustainability target translation, science-based target setting. In addition to the keyword search, the reference/citation search method was applied.

Secondly, desk research and document reviews were conducted in the case study organisation for the purpose of empirical data collection. This provided an overview of the product development process, as well as existing sustainability related design guidelines and current design requirements that the design departments are working with. This enables a picture of the advancement of the organisation in terms of implementation of its sustainability strategy and helps to identify gaps that need to be closed to enable design departments to design more sustainable products.

5.3 Observation

Furthermore, the participant observation method was applied according to Jorgensen (1989), where the author took part in meetings, calls and discussions in the case study organisation, partly solely as observer and partly as active participant. Observations were noted down, coded and where applicable combined with the findings from the semi-structured interviews and desk research to produce a full picture of sustainability opportunities, barriers and the needs of the design departments to design more sustainable products.

5.4 Calculations

For the translation of the sustainability targets in the case study organisation, calculations were essential. The calculations were conducted with actual LCA data, procurement data and sales forecasts from the case study organisation. Due to the confidentiality of the data used and for the reason of simplification, the calculations were re-done for this paper using generic numbers and publicly available data. The calculations have mainly been conducted in Excel and are illustrated with graphs and tables (see Appendix B). The calculations, together with their inputs and outputs, serve as example procedure for how organisational-level sustainability targets can be translated to product-level, so that the target can be quantified and progress towards it can be measured. To achieve this measurability, Life Cycle Assessment data was imperative.



5.5 Life Cycle Assessment

To set measurable targets, a measurement tool is necessary. LCA allows for quantification of environmental impacts and comparison of different solutions serving the same purpose as the assessed product. Consequently, it can be used to measure environmental performance differences, for instance between different products compared with the same functional unit or between iterations of one product. In manufacturing businesses, where certain departments are responsible for designing and producing certain components of the product, LCA can therefore be integrated in the product development process to measure the departments' progress toward their respective environmental performance or sustainability targets (Bonou et al., 2015; Luz et al., 2018).

In this study, LCA is applied in several ways. In the case study organisation, the products' environmental impacts are calculated via LCA. Moreover, LCAs are the basis for the company's calculation of Scope 3 emissions and thereby its Scope 3 GHG emission reduction target. To translate the organisational-level Scope 3 target to a product-level target, product-level GHG emission data calculated by LCA is used, in combination with sales forecast data. Once product-level targets are established, LCA is used to further break down the product's GHG emissions in two ways. Firstly, to conduct a hot spot analysis and identify which materials have the largest impact on total Scope 3 GHG emissions. Secondly, to allocate GHG emissions to the different design departments, which are each responsible for designing a certain number of components of the product. Consequently, LCA is used as a vital tool in the translation and quantification of organisational-level GHG emission reduction targets to product-level and beyond.

5.6 Interviews

Seven interviews have been held to answer the sub-questions:

- Where do design departments see sustainability opportunities and barriers?
- What support do design departments need from the organisation to design more sustainable products?

The interviews were of semi-structured nature and were conducted according to the guidelines from Silverman (2014) and Adams (2015). In a semi-structured interview, first an initial topic of conversation is established with the intent to guide the discussion into the desired direction



while at the same time letting the interview unfold without major constraints (Silverman, 2014). This type of interview allows the participants to build on each other's comments, which is particularly beneficial since spontaneous follow-up questions can be asked. As such, questions are neither asked in a fixed order, nor read out word-by-word, but instead they take reference in *"the agenda for the interview guide, the outline of planned topics, and questions to be ad-dressed, arrayed in their tentative order"* (Adams, 2015, p. 496).

The agenda for the interviews was to answer the above questions to better understand what an organisation can do to support internal activities to systematically work towards achieving its sustainability targets and to verify whether the translation of organisational-level targets is valuable. Each of the interviews lasted approximately 30 - 45 minutes and had the following agenda:

- 1. Short introduction of the interviewer and the research objective
- 2. Short introduction of the interviewee, their role and daily tasks at the case study organisation
- 3. Questions
 - a. Where are your touchpoints with sustainability in your daily work?
 - b. Where do you see opportunities for sustainability in your department?
 - c. Where do you see barriers for sustainability in your department?
 - d. What support do you need from the organisation to design more sustainable products?

Due to the semi-structured nature of the interviews, occasionally not all the questions were asked, and some of the questions were altered and adapted to the flow of the conversation.

The interviews were held via Microsoft Teams and the software's integrated transcription function was used to auto-generate a transcript. In addition to the transcript, notes were taken during the interview.

A qualitative analysis was then conducted by first marking and labelling bits in the transcripts and later sorting these into categories on a mind-map-like whiteboard and produce summaries, which are presented in Section 6.2 (Silverman, 2014).



6 Findings

In this section, the findings of the study are presented following the project approach described in the methodology (see Section 5.1.1). Accordingly, the findings from the top-down approach are presented first, followed by the findings from the bottom-up approach, each closing with an individual sub-conclusion.

6.1 Top-down approach

In this section, the top-down approach described in Section 5.1 is followed to answer the first part of the research question, which is about how organisational-level sustainability targets can be translated to product-level and further (see Figure 3).



Figure 3: Top-down approach

It outlines the procedure of translating an organisational-level sustainability target to productlevel, as well as how material hot spots can be identified, and how design departments can track their contribution to the product-level target. The procedure describes the process of translating the targets, including all inputs, tools and calculations needed to do so. It is illustrated at the example of Vestas' Scope 3 GHG emission reduction target, but it does not contain actual data from the organisation, in order not to disclose any potential confidential information. Instead,


for GHG emissions, fictional values are used and for sales forecasts it is referred to the publicly available numbers from Wind Europe (Wind Europe, 2022).

6.1.1 Translation: organisational-level target to product-level target

In this example procedure, Vestas' organisational-level Scope 3 GHG emission reduction target of 45 % per MWh by 2030 is translated to product-level. From the perspective of the organisation, this translation is important because Scope 3 emissions are indirect emissions from upstream and downstream activities in the value chain and as such can only indirectly be influenced by the organisation. Since there is only a vague connection between the target for indirect emissions to the actions and decisions taken every day by the departments within the company, making this connection becomes even more important. Achieving the target requires external collaboration with suppliers but also internal collaboration across departments, in this case the different design departments as well as procurement. The organisation is interested in the different functions working towards the target in a controlled and uniform manner, which can be achieved by providing them with common targets. Product-level targets give the different functions a much more tangible and quantifiable goal than the organisational-level target.

To illustrate the translation process, a fictional product portfolio of four different products is built with fictional power ratings and GHG emission intensities (see Table 2). The fictional portfolio is comprised of four models. One the one hand an Offshore Model, which is deployed in wind farms at sea where wind speeds are high and high yields can be achieved, which is why this model has the highest power rating. On the other hand, three different Onshore Models, which for wind farms on land. Each of these have different power ratings, optimised for different wind conditions. Each product's GHG emission intensities are fictional as well but taken within the realistic range of GHG emission intensities for wind turbines (Bonou et al., 2016). GHG emission intensities are obtained via LCAs of the respective products, which is why LCA is an important tool and input in the process of translating the target.



Turbine Model	Power rating [MW]	GHG emission intensity	
		[kgCO2e/MWh] ³	
Offshore Model	13	6	
Onshore Model 1	5	8	
Onshore Model 2	2	5	
Onshore Model 3	7	10	

Table 2: Fictional product portfolio

To create sales forecasts for each of the wind turbine models, Wind Europe's (2022) outlook for 2022 - 2026 (see Figure 4) is utilised and modified to fit the example. Sales forecasts and the respective share of sales per product play a vital role in both setting the target GHG emission intensity that products need to reach in 2030, in order for the organisational-level target to be hit.



Figure 4: Wind Europe outlook 2021 - 2026

³ Wind turbines have close zero GHG emissions in their operating phase. However, in the manufacturing phase of their Life Cycle, GHG are emitted, as well as during their installation, service and decommissioning (see (Razdan & Garrett, 2019, p. 58). LCA adds up the GHG emissions of the wind turbine's entire Life Cycle. These are then divided by the amount of MWh the is expected to turbine produce during its entire lifetime to obtain the GHG emission intensity.



Since the outlook only extends to 2026, but the Scope 3 target is set by 2030, the average growth rate between 2021 and 2026 was calculated and applied to both Onshore and Offshore to obtain a full forecast until 2030 (see Figure 5) (for calculations, see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 1.1). This is a simplification and approximation, however, the accuracy of the sales forecast in this fictional scenario is not crucial. The purpose is rather to create a basis on which the later target translation calculation can be illustrated.



Figure 5: Extended forecast until 2030

The forecast is then broken down by turbine model. Since the fictional product portfolio only features one single Offshore Model, the entire installed Offshore capacity is assumed as the sales volume of this model. However, the product portfolio contains three different Onshore Models, which is why the annually installed Onshore from the forecast capacity needs distributed amongst these models to obtain individual forecasts for each of the Onshore models. Since the Onshore market is slowly moving toward turbines with larger rotors and larger power output it is assumed that the sales share of the Onshore Model 2 with a power rating of 2 MW decreases significantly, with the Onshore Model 1 with a power rating of 5 MW also losing sales share until 2030. Instead, Onshore Model 3 with a power rating of 7 MW will continuously gain sales share until accounting for 70 % of the sales volume in 2030. The assumed sales share trajectories are presented in Figure 6 (for calculations, see Appendix B,



Tab 1, section 1.2). The numbers are purely fictional and only serve the purpose of providing an example. In a real setting, actual forecasts on share of sales should be utilised.



Figure 6: Turbine model percent share of annual sales – Onshore

When now allocating the annually installed Onshore capacity from Figure 5 according to each turbine model's annual percentage of sales from Figure 6, a complete sales forecast in by turbine model can be obtained (see Figure 7) (for calculations, see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.1). This sales forecast, shown in annually installed capacity per turbine model in MW is crucial for the following steps in the target translation.





Figure 7: Annual GW installed per turbine model

With the help of this forecast of annually installed capacity per turbine, the number of MWh generated by each model's annually installed capacity for the years up to 2030 can be calculated. This is necessary because the Scope 3 target is measured in percent GHG emission reduction per MWh generated. To be able to calculate e.g. the amount of MWh that the installed capacity of Onshore Model 1 in 2021 generates throughout its Life Cycle, two variables are important: a) capacity factor, and b) expected lifetime of the turbine model. "*The capacity factor of a wind turbine is its average power output divided by its maximum power capability*"(Center for Sustainable Systems, 2021). Wind Europe (2022) discloses that for 2021 the average capacity factor for onshore was 23 %, whereas the average capacity factor for onshore turbine is 20 years (Razdan & Garrett, 2019), while an offshore turbine is expected to last for 25 years (Siemens Gamesa, 2019). These values are used for the MWh forecasts for the



Onshore and Offshore Models respectively. The conversion of MW to MWh is made as shown in Equation 1.

Equation 1: Calculating MWh

MWh = MW installed [MW] * 24 [hours] * 365 [days] * Expected lifetime [years] * Capacity factor [percent]

The below calculation in Equation 2 shows an example of the MWh generated over the lifetime of the installed capacity of Onshore Model 1 in 2021.

Equation 2: Example for calculating MWh

8,400 [*MW*] * 24 [*hours*] * 365 [*days*] * 20 [*years*] * 23 [*percent*] = 338,486,400 [MWh]

By use of this calculation, a MWh forecast is made for the installed capacities until 2030 (see Figure 8) (for full calculations, see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.3). It can be seen that the Offshore Model takes a bigger share of the annual MWh compared its share of the annual GW installed (compare Figure 7). The Offshore Model produces comparatively more MWh in its lifetime because its expected lifetime is 5 years longer and its capacity factor is 12 percentage points higher than that of the onshore models.



Figure 8: MWh forecast per turbine model



Utilising the share of MWh per turbine model, a weighted average GHG emission intensity can be calculated. The share of MWh per turbine model in 2021 is as displayed in Table 3.

Turbine Model	Emission intensity [kgCO2e/MWh]	MWh in 2021	Percentage of total MWh
Offshore Model	6	252,945,000	31%
Onshore Model 1	8	338,486,400	41%
Onshore Model 2	5	169,243,200	21%
Onshore Model 3	10	56,414,400	7%
Total	?	817,089,000	100%

Table 3: Share of MWh per turbine model in 2021

To now obtain the GHG emission intensity of the installed fleet in 2021, one needs to calculate the weighted average of the individual turbine models' GHG emission intensities (see Equation 3).

Equation 3: Calculating fleet GHG emission intensity

Fleet GHG emission intensity
$$\left[\frac{kgCO2}{MWh}\right]$$
= Off shore Model emission intensity $\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$ * Off shore Model share of MWh [percent]+ Onshore Model 1 emission intensity $\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$ * Onshore Model 1 share of MWh [percent]+ Onshore Model 2 emission intensity $\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$ * Onshore Model 2 share of MWh [percent]+ Onshore Model 2 share of MWh [percent]+ Onshore Model 3 emission intensity $\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$ * Onshore Model 3 share of MWh [percent]

Filling the equation with values, one obtains a weighted average emission intensity of 6.9 kgCO2e/MWh in 2021 (see Equation 4).

Master Thesis Report



Equation 4: Calculating fleet emission intensity for 2021

$$6\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right] * 31\left[percent\right] + 8\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right] * 41\left[percent\right] + 5\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right] * 21\left[percent\right] + 10\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right] * 7\left[percent\right] = 6.9\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$$

Given the product portfolio of the four turbine models, this emission intensity represents the entire Scope 3 emissions of the company. Remembering the target being reduction of supply chain emission by 45 % per MWh by 2030, it is this fleet emission intensity which needs to be reduced by 45 %. This reduction would mean going from 6.9 kgCO2e/MWh in 2021 to only 3.8 kgCO2e/MWh in 2030.

Now that there is a starting point and an ending point, the annual fleet emission intensity target can be created. In the case of Vestas, this has already been done as part of the process of setting the Scope 3 target as an SBT. To do so, it should be identified what actions are essential to achieving the necessary reductions. Here, LCA comes in again, helping to identify high-level environmental, or in this case, GHG emission hot spots of the products. Once the emission hot spots are known, alternative solutions can be assessed according to their technology readiness, feasibility and scalability. Based on this high-level assessment, a feasible fleet emission reduction trajectory can be drawn between the start value of 6.9 kgCO2e/MWh and the end value of 3.8 kgCO2e/MWh. To allow enough room for the launch of GHG reduction projects and sustainable procurement, as well as development of technology and alternative designs, it is likely that the GHG reduction trajectory takes the shape of a hockey stick, staying flat for the first half of the period, before dropping more sharply downward at the end. For the example shown in Figure 9 the gap between start value and end value was filled so that a hockey stick shaped curve was obtained that was deemed reasonable by the author (see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.4).





Figure 9: Fleet GHG emission intensity reduction curve

Now, annual GHG emission intensity targets for the installed fleet are set, however, it is still unclear how the individual products should be contributing to achieving them (see Table 4).

Year	Offshore	Onshore	Onshore	Onshore	Fleet	Reduction
	Model	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	average	vs. base
	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	year
2021	6	8	5	10	6.9	0%
2022	?	?	?	?	6.9	0%
2023	?	?	?	?	6.9	0%
2024	?	?	?	?	6.8	-1%
2025	?	?	?	?	6.6	-4%
2026	?	?	?	?	6.3	-9%
2027	?	?	?	?	5.8	-16%
2028	?	?	?	?	5.2	-25%
2029	?	?	?	?	4.5	-35%
2030	?	?	?	?	3.8	-45%

Table 4: Annual GHG emission intensity targets

If the GHG emission intensities of each of the products stayed constant until 2030, the fleet average GHG emission intensity would in fact increase to 7.5 kgCO2e/MWh, due to the more emission intensive Onshore Model 3 gaining in sales share. Figure 10 illustrates the gap between the fleet average target scenario and the fleet average no-action scenario (see also Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.4).





Figure 10: Emission intensity trajectories compared

From the fleet average target scenario, annual total allowed GHG emissions can be calculated by multiplying the respective annual target GHG emission intensities by the respective total annual MWh generated, which were calculated earlier (refer to Figure 8). Figure 11 compares the annual total GHG emissions of the no-action scenario to the total allowed annual GHG emissions of the target scenario (see also Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.5).



Figure 11: Total GHG emissions compared

Lukas Allekotte



The total allowed annual GHG emissions (Fleet total (target)) are taken as a threshold for the calculation of the product-level targets. Additionally, a product prioritisation can be made, based on the respective models' annual share of MW installed and MWh generated. Looking at Figure 7 and Figure 8, both show a downward trend for both Onshore Model 1 and 2. Starting with making up combined 73 % of the MW installed in 2021, their combined share declines to only 19 % in 2030. Looking at MWh generated, this trend is similar, with the two models comprising 62 % of the MWh generated in 2021, but only 14 % in 2030. At the same time, the Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 increase their share of both MW installed from 27 % in 2021 to 81 % in 2030 and their share of MWh generated from 38 % in 2021 to 86 % in 2030. Given their significant increase in these two metrics by 2030, the Offshore Model, as well as Onshore Model 3 should be chosen as focus products to achieve GHG emission reductions. Since the absolute values for both annual MW installed for Onshore Model 1 and 2 decrease, total emissions caused by these products will decrease as well. Consequently, these two products can be de-prioritised in terms of GHG emission reductions (see also Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.6).

Now that the Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 are prioritised, their annual GHG emission intensity targets need to be calculated so that the annual fleet emission intensity targets can be achieved, while the emission intensities of Onshore Model 1 and 2 stay constant. Multiplying the GHG emission intensities of Onshore Model 1 and 2 by their respective MWh generated for each year until 2030, the total GHG emissions for these models can be calculated (see Equation 5). Figure 12 plots those against the maximum allowed emissions curve (for calculations, see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.7).

Equation 5: Calculating Turbine Model annual GHG emissions

Turbine Model annual GHG emissions [kgCO2e] = Turbine Model emission intensity $\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$ * Turbine Model annual MWh generated [MWh]





Figure 12: Annual total GHG emissions Onshore Model 1+2 vs. total allowed annual GHG emissions

The emissions that the Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 are allowed to emit is the difference between the combined emissions of Onshore Model 1 and 2 and the total allowed emissions from the Target scenario, as illustrated in Figure 13 (see also Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.7).





Figure 13: Allowed emissions for Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3

According to the respective share of MW installed of the Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 for each year, the annually allowed emissions can be allocated to the two models. Thereby, the amount of reduction that each of the two models needs to deliver is linked to their respective sales performance in MW. For instance, in 2021 the Offshore model makes up 70 % of the combined MW installed of the two models. Consequently, it gets allocated 70 % percent of the allowed GHG emissions. In 2030, the Offshore model only makes up 46 % of the combined MW installed of the two models. Therefore, only 46 % of the allowed emissions are allocated to it (see Figure 14) (for calculations, see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.8).





Figure 14: Allowed emissions allocated to Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3

With the entire allowed annual GHG emissions now being allocated to the four different products, GHG emission intensity trajectories with annual targets for each turbine model can be obtained. This is done by applying Equation 6 (for calculations see Appendix B, Tab 1, section 2.9).

Equation 6: Calculating turbine model annual GHG emission intensity targets

Turbine model annual GHG emission intensity
$$\left[\frac{kgCO2e}{MWh}\right]$$

= $\frac{Tubine model annual allowed GHG emissions [kgCO2e]}{Turbine model annual MWh [MWh]}$

As a result of the calculation, Table 5 is obtained, showing annual GHG emission intensity targets for all products from 2021 to 2030 that add up to the respective annual fleet average intensity target and subsequently to the 45 % reduction target. Since Onshore Model 1 and 2 were de-prioritised due to decreasing share in sales, their GHG emission intensities stay constant from 2021 to 2030. Therefore, the prioritised Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 each need to deliver an overall GHG emission intensity reduction of 58 % respectively until 2030. However, some of the cells in the table need to be adjusted to represent a more realistic reduction trajectory for the two models. These cells have been marked in orange. Referring



back to Table 2, the Offshore Model starts out with a GHG emission intensity of 6.0 kgCO2e/MWh and Onshore Model 3 with 10 kgCO2e/MWh in 2021, which needs to be corrected in the table here. Moreover, the reduction trajectory for the Offshore Model is unrealistically steep in the years up to 2025, while the emission intensities for Onshore Model 3 are above its 2021 value.

Year	Offshore	Onshore	Onshore	Onshore	Fleet
	Model	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	average
	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]
2021	5.8	8.0	5.0	11	6.9
2022	5.5	8.0	5.0	10.4	6.9
2023	5.6	8.0	5.0	10.7	6.9
2024	5.2	8.0	5.0	9.8	6.8
2025	5.1	8.0	5.0	9.6	6.6
2026	5.1	8.0	5.0	9.7	6.3
2027	4.5	8.0	5.0	8.5	5.8
2028	3.8	8.0	5.0	7.2	5.2
2029	3.1	8.0	5.0	5.8	4.5
2030	2.4	8.0	5.0	4.6	3.8
Overall reduction	-58%	0%	0%	-58%	-45%

Table 5: Annual GHG emission intensity targets (non-adjusted)

Adjusting the marked values upward for the Offshore Model and downward for Onshore Model 3 produces Table 6, with the adjusted cells marked in green (see also Appendix B, Tab 1, section 3.0). Now, both the Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 need to begin to reduce their GHG emission intensities in 2024. To achieve the target of a fleet average of 3.8 kgCO2e/MWh, the Offshore Model needs to reduce its GHG emission intensity by 60 % compared to 2021 and Onshore Model 3 needs to reduce its intensity by 54 % compared to 2021. Making these adjustments means that in the period from 2022 to 2025, the fleet average emission intensity is above the originally calculated trajectory (cells marked in orange). This, however, is not a concern, since the organisational-level target of reducing supply chain emissions by 45 % per MWh will be achieved because the fleet average GHG emission intensity will be down to 3.8 kgCO2e/MWh in 2030 (see Table 6).



Year	Offshore	Onshore	Onshore	Onshore	Fleet
	Model	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	average
	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]	[kgCO2e/MWh]
2021	6.0	8.0	5.0	10.0	6.9
2022	6.0	8.0	5.0	10.0	7.0
2023	6.0	8.0	5.0	10.0	7.0
2024	5.8	8.0	5.0	9.8	7.0
2025	5.6	8.0	5.0	9.8	6.9
2026	5.1	8.0	5.0	9.7	6.3
2027	4.5	8.0	5.0	8.5	5.8
2028	3.8	8.0	5.0	7.2	5.2
2029	3.1	8.0	5.0	5.8	4.5
2030	2.4	8.0	5.0	4.6	3.8
Overall reduction	-60%	0%	0%	-54%	-45%

 Table 6: Annual GHG emission intensity targets (adjusted)

The final emission intensity trajectories for each product and the fleet average are represented in Figure 15. Both Table 6 and Figure 15 can be utilised to provide design departments with an overview of which products' GHG emission reduction efforts should be focussed on and by when reductions need to be delivered.



Figure 15: GHG emission intensity reduction trajectories (adjusted)



With this, the translation of the organisational-level Scope 3 target to product-level targets is complete. All detailed calculations can be found in Appendix B, Tab 1. Furthermore, Appendix B, Tab 2 presents the same translation process with the difference that only Turbine Model 2 is de-prioritised, leading to annual GHG emission intensity targets for the Offshore Model, Onshore Model 1 and 3. However, with the product-level targets in place, now it needs to be specified which materials used in the products need to be focussed on and how the different departments, which are responsible for the design of certain parts of the turbine need to contribute to reaching the targets.

6.1.2 Identification of material hot spots

With product-level targets set, it now needs to be investigated how these can be reached. For organisations like Vestas, whose Scope 3 emissions largely come from raw material extraction and fabrication, it is imperative to evaluate which materials contribute mostly to the overall GHG emissions to be able to then launch strategies for reducing their emission intensity or substituting them.

Referring back to Figure 11, the bars showing the overall GHG emissions caused by the annually installed fleet in the no-action scenario can be split to show the contribution of each material type. Moreover, the amount that each material contributes to the total GHG emissions per year can be forecast until 2030, as well. The necessary data on the contribution of materials to the total GHG emission can be obtained in two different ways. One option is to gather the purchased amount of each material from procurement and multiply it by the materials' respective GHG emission factors. Another option is to gather the material breakdown of each turbine model from their respective LCAs, multiply it by the number of turbines sold for each model in the year and then multiply it by the respective emission factor for the material. This way, not only the total annual GHG emissions per material type can be obtained but also the GHG emissions per material type per turbine model. This enables a more accurate forecast of total GHG emissions per material type based on the number of turbines sold form each model. Due to the sensitivity of the data, no actual numbers from Vestas can be disclosed. To provide an example anyhow, the forecast created in Section 6.1.1 based on Wind Europe (2022) data is divided by the material contribution based on the assumed values displayed in Table 7. Since it is looked at the entire Scope 3, GHG emissions not originating from raw material extraction



and fabrication, such as transport and logistics, are collected in the 'Other Scope 3' category in the table.

Material	Percent contribution to total emissions
Steel	50%
Iron	10%
Aluminium & alloys	3%
Copper & alloys	1%
Glass & carbon composites	12%
Polymer materials	3%
Electrics/Electronics	5%
Lubricants & fluids	1%
Other Scope 3	15%
Sum	100%

Table 7: Material percent contribution to total emissions

Figure 16 plots the forecasted material contribution to the total GHG emissions against the target emission curve originating from the 45 % Scope 3 reduction target. It illustrates that, to reach the target in 2030, GHG emissions originating from raw material extraction and fabrication need to be significantly reduced, or GHG intensive materials need to be swapped out with alternative solutions. It also clearly shows material hot spots such as steel, glass & carbon composites and iron, which together make up 72 % of the total GHG emissions in this fictional scenario. However, materials like electrics/electronics, aluminium & alloys, as well as polymer materials should not be neglected either.





Figure 16: GHG emission forecast split by material contribution (no-action scenario)

With the material hot spots identified, foci can be set both for the design departments working with the materials, for procurement and for research & development to investigate technology readiness and roadmaps for GHG intensity reduction of the existing materials, as well as for alternative materials including their respective scalability, cost and availability. Subsequently, it can be forecast how much each of the alternatives can contribute to GHG emission reductions and to reaching the 2030 target. Based on that, implementation can be driven forward in collaboration with the supply chain.

However, to keep the internal focus on the organisation, the material usage of each design department needs to be quantified, so that, if possible, ownership over the different materials can be assigned and foci for each department can be set.



6.1.3 Setting foci for design departments

Now that annual GHG emission intensity targets for the prioritised turbine models are set, and overall material hot spots have been identified, it needs to be specified how the different design departments, which are responsible for the design of certain parts of the turbine need to contribute to reaching the targets.

To be able to work towards the emission intensity targets set for each turbine model, it is important that each of the design departments understands the carbon footprint of their components and their materials. To provide this overview, first the design departments' contribution to the total emissions of each turbine model needs to be calculated. There are several ways this can be done. One option is to build an LCA model of each turbine in which the components are grouped by 'Design Module' and therefore by design department. Since LCAs are Bill of Materials (BoM) based, the components need to be mapped to the respective design department they are designed by, which can be a tedious process if no automation through e.g. identifiers exists. When the LCA model of the turbine is grouped by design department, it is possible to read the Global Warming Potential caused by each design department in the results. Another option is to gather data on each design department's purchased material per turbine model and multiply the quantities by the respective material GHG emission factor to obtain the design department's contribution to the product's total carbon footprint. Here, it is crucial to verify the reliability of the used GHG emission factors and which life cycle stages these refer to (e.g. raw material extraction, fabrication, etc.). However, an advantage of the second option is that it enables both the creation of the departments' contribution to a product's GHG emissions and the identification of material hot spots at the same time.





Figure 17: Percent contribution to CO2 per Turbine Platform

Figure 17 illustrates a rough example of a percentage breakdown of GHG emissions per design department for the fictional Offshore Model and Onshore Model 3 that can be obtained with an LCA model grouped by design department. For offshore turbines, the tower is smaller relative to the rotor diameter than for onshore turbines. Therefore, the amount the tower design department contributes to the total emissions of the offshore turbine is less and the percentage of the blades design department is higher. In both cases, the tower design department and the blades design department are the largest contributors to the total emissions, which is due to both the GHG emission intensity of the materials they use and their respective mass. If a prioritisation is desired, these two design departments can be prioritised for carbon reduction initiatives.

As a next step it can be investigated, which materials each design department uses and how each of the materials contributes to their carbon footprint per turbine model. An example of such a hot spot analysis can be seen in Figure 18 using approximate percentages.





Figure 18: Material contribution to carbon footprint per design department

From an overview like this, material hot spots within the departments can be seen. In the case of this example, the largest hot spots are steel and carbon fibre. As identified in Section 6.1.2, steel and glass & carbon composites, of which carbon fibre is a major part, are two of the major material hot spots that together make up 62 % of the entire Scope 3 emissions. Accordingly, a major focus for the tower department should be to reduce the carbon footprint of steel or replace the material with alternatives, whereas the blades department should have the same focus on carbon fibres. Initiatives can be started within each department to for instance reduce the quantity used of the materials until the in Section 6.1.2 described assessments on technology readiness, roadmaps, cost, scalability, and availability of alternatives are completed and supply chain strategies for each of the material hot spots are implemented. The reductions achieved by the supply chain strategies will then have an impact that has an effect on all design departments, which often use the same materials. For instance, a strategy for procurement of low-carbon steel will have the biggest impact on the carbon footprint of the tower department, however, it will also have an impact on the hub and the nacelle design departments, which both also use steel. Therefore, it is imperative that the impact of expected reductions from alternative materials or GHG reduction strategies for existing materials are mapped against the no-action scenario in Figure 16. This way, the reduction potential per material or per GHG reduction strategy can be shown. This in turn enables a gap assessment and can guide both research & development, procurement, and the design departments on the actions they need to take based



on the knowledge they gained from the overview of their individual carbon footprints. The overviews in Figure 17 and Figure 18 are mainly to educate design departments on their contribution to the carbon footprint of the products and point them towards their individual material hot spots to be tackled in the short term by design changes and re-designs until a supply chain strategy for each material is implemented.

6.1.4 Conducting LCAs to evaluate design improvements and progress towards targets

To aid design departments in design changes and re-designs for the sake of GHG emission reductions, LCAs can be utilised as a tool in the product development process. According to Luz et al. (2018) LCAs can support the process in multiple ways, here illustrated at the example of the blades department. Firstly, it can be used to create GHG emission baselines for each blade model. Turbine models are being sold for many years and in this timespan, it is common that the turbine is upgraded to improve performance, competitiveness, and cost. As such, original blade's global warming potential on the first-generation turbine can be used as baseline for measuring improvements of future generations. To create the baseline, the exact material breakdown of the original blade needs to be known and an LCA model needs to be created. From the results of the LCA model, blade specific hot spots can be identified to which the blades department can apply Eco-Design for achieving a lower carbon footprint of the upgraded blade. Once upgrades have been made, LCAs can calculate the global warming potential of the upgraded blade and compare it to the baseline to quantify the improvement (Luz et al., 2018).

Since this is an example of an existing blade for an existing turbine, the room for changes and improvement through Eco-Design is limited. The above-described steps fall into what Luz et al. (2018) categorise as detailed design phase. While this is a suitable approach for existing products, the support of LCAs can have a much larger impact in the development of new products and components. For instance, following the suggestion by Luz et al. (2018), learnings taken from the hot spot analysis of above original blade can be fed into the planning phase of an entirely new blade for an entirely new turbine to identify improvement strategies. This could be that a change in shape is needed to support the reduction of carbon fibre in the blade to reduce its carbon footprint without compromising its structural integrity. Once several concepts of a new blade have been designed, LCAs can help selecting the concept with the best environmental performance, or lowest carbon footprint in this case. After choosing a blade concept, which is then designed in detail, LCAs can be utilised to compare the performance of



the detailed design to that of the initial concept. These steps can be applied and, as suggested by Brambila-Macias et al. (2021), conducted by a life cycle engineer, which is a position that could be established in every design department.

When the prototyping and testing phase is reached, an LCA of the entire turbine can be conducted to quantify overall environmental impacts, upon which can be evaluated, whether the product-level GHG emission intensity target has been achieved. Consequently, by following Luz et al's (2018) methodology of integrating LCAs into the product development process, Eco-Design applied to existing products can be supported and enhanced, entirely new products can be developed with a focus on environmental sustainability and carbon footprint reduction and progress towards sustainability targets, such as the product-level GHG emission intensity targets can be tracked.



6.1.5 Conclusion on the top-down approach

The purpose of the top-down approach was to answer the first part of the research question, namely how organisational-level sustainability targets can be translated into product-level targets. The translation process has been illustrated with an example translation of Vestas' Scope 3 emission reduction target using fictional and publicly available numbers. Since the process shown is quite specific to the wind industry, a more generic process is demonstrated in Figure 19.



Figure 19: Generic target translation process

First the life cycle GHG emissions per product need to be obtained from LCA, as well as the sales forecasts for each product. These life cycle GHG emissions per product are multiplied with the sales forecast per product, so that a forecast of total emissions can be created, which does not factor in any reductions and is therefore called no-action scenario.

This no-action scenario is then compared to the organisational-level target that is set and the gap is assessed. With the help of feasibility assessments and technology road mapping a target scenario with annual emission intensities or total emissions can be created. Usually, this trajectory is shaped like a hockey stick (see Figure 9) to allow time for technology development



and implementation before reductions can be achieved. From this target scenario, the maximum allowed emissions per year can be derived. These function as threshold. The maximum allowed emissions per year can then be divided onto the different products based on their share of sales all the way to the year that the target needs to be achieved. This way, annual product-level emission or emission intensity targets can be obtained.

To provide additional guidance to the design departments, material hot spots have been identified as part of the top-down approach. Material hot spots can be identified in several ways depending on which data is available. Figure 20 shows an approach where annual purchase data for each material needs to be obtained from procurement. This data is then multiplied by the respective emission factor to obtain the total annual emissions per material. This way, hot spots can be identified.



Figure 20: Generic material hot spot identification approach I

A second approach is shown by Figure 21, where material breakdowns are extracted from product LCAs. The material data is then multiplied by the number of units sold and the respective emission factor for the material to obtain the total emissions per material per product for one year. This can be done for each product and added up to obtain the annual emissions per material for the entire product portfolio. This way, material hot spots can be identified. The advantage of this approach is that in the same process, material hot spots per individual product can also be identified. Using the sales forecast for each product, emissions for each product per material can then also be forecast into the future.



Figure 21: Generic material hot spot identification approach II

Moreover, an example was given on how to identify individual design departments' share of a product's carbon footprint so that the departments understand their hot spots and can track their progress towards the product-level target. There are several approaches to this. One approach is to build an LCA model of each product in which the components are grouped by the department they are designed by, which makes it possible to read the Global Warming Potential caused by each design department in the results. Another approach is to gather data on each design department's purchased material per product model and multiply the quantities by the respective material GHG emission factor to obtain the design department's contribution to the product's total carbon footprint. The overviews provided by either of these approaches can then further be used to identify which materials are the largest contributors to the department's emission share of the product. Once the materials with the largest emission shares are known, it can be worked on reducing their impact through both design changes and technology development in the supply chain or they can be swapped out if feasible. This will be aided by the implementation of LCA in the different phases of the product development process.



6.2 Bottom-up approach

The previous section concludes the top-down approach of translating organisational-level sustainability targets to product-level, answering the first part of the research question. This section focuses on the bottom-up approach taken to answer the second part of the research question, which is about finding out how to improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products (see Figure 22).



Figure 22: Bottom-up approach

To follow the bottom-up approach, first the findings from desk research, document reviews and observation are described, after which the findings from the semi-structured interviews are presented. The findings from desk research and observation start with a review of Vestas' product development process, move on to the review of Vestas' existing sustainability related design guidelines and close of with other relevant observations gathered throughout the stay in the organisation. This is followed by a section on the semi-structured interviews. Seven semistructured interviews (Silverman, 2014) have been conducted with employees in the blades design department, each in a different part of the department and with different responsibilities to account for different angles on the subject. Amongst the interviewees was one aerodynamic Lukas Allekotte



specialist, a structural engineer, a materials engineer, a process design engineer, a senior function lead, a module design owner and the sustainability champion in the blades department. The blades department was chosen, because it faces sustainability challenges, both in terms of carbon footprint reduction, having the second largest carbon footprint (see Figure 17), and in terms of circularity and waste reduction, due to the nature of the composite materials mainly used in blades manufacturing. In particular, the interviewees were asked where they currently had touchpoints with sustainability in their daily work, where they see opportunities and barriers for sustainability in their department, and what support they require from the organisation to design more sustainable products (For interview transcripts, see Appendix A, section 3). In the following, the findings from these interviews are presented in a clustered form. First, sustainability challenges are described, which are clustered into design challenges, resource challenges, and integration challenges. Afterwards, the identified sustainability opportunities are elaborated on, which are divided into drivers/enablers, tools, and design opportunities. Finally, conclusions are drawn from the empirical material to answer the questions on how the organisation can improve the capacity of its design departments to design more sustainable products and systematically work towards organisational sustainability targets.

6.2.1 Findings from desk research and observation

Desk research, document reviews and observation in the case study organisation were conducted as part of the bottom-up approach. The following sub-sections summarise the findings from these.

6.2.1.1 Product development process

Document revies reveal that Vestas follows a stage-gate model in their product development process. This stage-gate model clearly defines the activities and milestones in the process as well as the outputs of the process. The product development is driven according to the turbine-level design requirements, which are e.g. market requirements, feature requirements, cost requirements, or weight requirements, which apply to the entire turbine and are set in the beginning of the process by higher management. The stage-gate product development process also defines standard tools and processes used during project execution. It was found that at two gates in particular, LCA should be conducted. In the early stages of the project, a streamlined LCA should be conducted as a preliminary assessment to guide the design



departments on where to focus efforts in terms of Eco-Design, design for disassembly, reduction of carbon footprint and increase of recyclability. For each of these, a dedicated design guideline exists. Then, at a later stage, a full ISO LCA should be made, which would then be based on the BoM of the actual product and assesses environmental impacts in detail. However, from discussions with the environmental specialist, it became clear that the assessments do not have the desired effect, since Eco-Design is not required to be conducted in the process. Subsequently, only a few design departments actively work with it and follow the process as intended.

6.2.1.2 Review of sustainability related design guidelines

Vestas has several sustainability related design guidelines, namely an Eco-Design guideline, a CO₂ footprint design guideline, a recyclability design guideline, and a disassembly design guideline. The aim of each guideline is to support design engineers to reduce the environmental impacts over the life cycle of the product and to support the organisation's aim to develop products with lower overall environmental impacts and lower LCoE. Each of them contains a definition of the topic, as well as general principles to be followed to optimise the design, as well as general process steps or an application example. Practical advice is provided, such as a complete procedure for Eco-Design according to ISO 14006, a list of emission factors for the 50 most commonly used materials, a list of materials' and substances' theoretical and actual recyclability, and a disassembly checklist ready to be used by design departments. These guidelines represent a good knowledge base for the design departments to utilise when designing components and products. However, the usage so far has been limited due to the environmental sustainability not being a hard requirement in the product development process. Consequently, Eco-Design activities, CO₂ footprint reduction activities, recyclability increase and design for disassembly activities are either not assessed at the gates in the product development process, or their assessment does not have the significant consequences due to the low prioritisation.

6.2.1.3 Relevant observations

As part of the stay at Vestas, the author participated in meetings of the sustainability department, the environment department and a meeting of both departments with the sustainability champions throughout the organisation.

Master Thesis Report



During this meeting with the sustainability champions, a few relevant observations were made. Firstly, there is a scepticism towards the organisational-level commitments and targets. In the current state, it is unclear to the sustainability champions how these are intended to be achieved. To do away with this uncertainty, it was called for lower-level, quantifiable targets for the departments. Each department desires to know how much it needs to contribute to reach the organisational-level targets and how they currently perform in relation to it. Moreover, the introduction of sustainability requirements on product-level was requested to enable the departments to allocate resources to work towards the organisational-level target.

From the observations in the sustainability department and the environment department, the following could be gathered. With regard to the organisation's Scope 3 target, most potential is seen in the supply chain and in reducing the carbon footprint of materials through different technologies as opposed to design changes. As such the main focus is on a global strategy for accelerating the so-called green steel or CO₂ reduced steel, which is produced at a much lower the carbon footprint, with Electric Arc Furnace steel showing reduction potentials of 63-97% over conventional steel (IPOL, 2021). Given steel is the single largest contributor to the organisation's Scope 3 emissions (see Figure 16) and also the single largest contributor to the life cycle GHG emissions of a turbine, green steel would reduce product GHG emission intensity significantly. However, there is also an awareness that green steel alone will not be enough to reach the target, and that other materials with a large contribution to Scope 3 emissions need to be taken into consideration, as well. Moreover, it is seen as important to introduce lower-level, quantifiable sustainability targets within the organisation and the process of translating the Scope 3 target has begun (see Section 6.1). The department that sets product-level design requirements has been involved to sign off the targets and introduce the design requirements that are being called for.



6.2.2 Interview findings: Sustainability challenges

The interviewees mentioned numerous sustainability challenges in their department. During the analysis of the interviews, it was possible to cluster the challenges into design challenges, resource challenges, integration challenges and other challenges. Each of these are elaborated on below. The full interview transcripts can be found in Appendix A, section 3.

6.2.2.1 Design challenges

The first sub-cluster within the sustainability challenges mentioned by the employees can be described as design challenges. Within the design challenges, three areas were identified which are described in detail below: balancing trade-offs, difficulty in assessing impacts of alternative solutions, and the designers' perceived limited influence on sustainability. An overview can be seen in Figure 23.



Figure 23: Interview findings: Design challenges

Many of the design challenges faced by the interviewees and their colleagues revolve around balancing trade-offs. The interviewees identified that introducing sustainability in blades



design can result both in trade-offs in the design process and on product-level. The first tradeoff mentioned for the design process is that an increased focus on sustainability could limit the designers' design options, i.e. in terms of choosing materials, which then also has an impact on weight, structure, shape and aerodynamic performance. This in turn means that trade-offs between the different design areas within the blades design department, such as aerodynamic design, structural design, materials engineering, and process design, need to be managed. Currently, there are already trade-offs between the different design areas, which need to balance the different requirements brough forward to them. These are usually product-level (turbine-level) requirements and are derived from current market needs, so that the overall product increases competitiveness by serving the market needs in the best possible way. The interviewees mentioned turbine-level design requirements such as Annual Energy Production, Decreasing Levelized Cost of Energy (LCoE), quality, reduction in BoM cost and mass, timeto-market and noise levels. These requirements are then translated to performance requirements, structural requirements and process requirements, which are used by the materials engineers to create a technical purchase specification. Using the turbine-level design requirements as guidelines, potential trade-offs are managed. The interviewees pointed out that if there should be a focus on sustainability, a sustainability design requirement would have to be added to the turbine-level design requirements and made a KPI.

Moreover, a number of trade-offs on product-level were prognosticated, when designing a more sustainable blade. Here, the interviewees assumed that a reduction of certain materials, like carbon fibre, or the introduction of different, more sustainable materials would be necessary to achieve a more sustainable blade. This could require significant changes to the blades' shape and structure. Accordingly, the following trade-offs were brought up: performance reduction, weight increase, lifetime reduction, and cost increase. It was made clear that not necessarily all of them would occur simultaneously and with severance, but the consensus was that it would not be possible to achieve more sustainability without these trade-offs, at least until the sustainable solutions are matured. The structural engineer summed it up like this: "[...] I think when these new materials come online, I think there will have to be some kind of drop but of course to compensate for that you'll have the ability to have a much better sustainable product on the market. So and maybe it will be 2 tracks you'll do in parallel for a while. We'll still use our materials that we use today and we'll have our high-performance blades, but we'll have our sustainable kind of track where it's not such a high-performance



product" (Structural engineer, 2022). Consequently, most of the interviewees wished for guidance from the organisation on which trade-offs should be taken and to which extent.

Another theme of design challenges was that impacts of alternative solutions are difficult to assess. The structural engineer in particular had the following concern when speaking about the introduction of alternative materials: *"So process wise, what does it mean? Again, the cost of the process. Can you use that material with the materials we use today?"*. There might be challenges using the same processes used today at the same cost as today when creating alternative solutions and the impacts on component mass and on material bonding when swapping out materials is difficult to assess. Additionally, it was brought up that the material qualification process for alternative materials needs to be conducted first before the materials can be used by the structural designers, who choose their materials from a qualified catalogue in a database. Subsequently, the assessment of effects from the introduction of alternative materials needs to be eased.

The final theme that was found within the cluster of design challenges is designers' and engineers' perception that they have little influence on sustainability. For instance, when wanting to reduce waste, process designers are limited by the generic sizes from supplier: "There are other restrictions like our manufacturers have restrictions, the raw material manufacturer has some restrictions. They cannot make a manufacturing process specific to Vestas. They have a generic manufacturing which suits for large customers" (Process design engineer, 2022). Similarly, the structural engineers are bound to the materials they are given by the materials engineers: "[...] we would always be set a specification or a requirement. You must use these materials. Generally, the requirements of designing a blade are normally very tight. So, it's not like you can say I'm going to use this material, it's nowhere near as good as this other material but it's got a better footprint. Because then you wouldn't hit the actual design requirements, if that makes sense" (Structural engineer, 2022). Additionally, materials engineers are bound to the technical purchase specification derived from the design requirements and limited by procurement and suppliers while aerodynamic designers are to ensure the performance and decrease LCoE. From this it can be concluded that it would aid the designers and engineers if there was one or several sustainability-related design requirements, which would allow them to overcome some of the present restrictions they are facing.



6.2.2.2 Resource challenges

The second sub-cluster within the sustainability challenges uncovered by the interviews is called resource challenges (see Figure 24).



Figure 24: Interview findings: Resource challenges

Here, the interviewees mentioned difficulties in time and resource allocation to sustainability related tasks as long as sustainability is not part of the formal design requirements, which is why employees currently do sustainability related work mainly based on their personal motivation. "[...] I mean the other thing is funding to spend on technology. [...] That doesn't come for free, and we need to commitment from the company to give hours and costs to developing that." (Senior function lead, 2022).

Moreover, managing suppliers to bring in alternative materials and products was pointed out as an additional challenge that could put strain on resources. "If you think about it, the majority of that carbon is in our supply chain. So, a large part of that activity is managing the suppliers. And therefore, we need to plan for that. Which is partly the hours required to audit the suppliers to work with them, to bring in new products, et cetera." (Module design owner, 2022). Another challenge in terms of resources is building a cost neutral or cost positive business case for sustainable products and sustainability initiatives since "sustainability impacts both positively and negatively from a cost perspective. [...] If we can reduce our waste that has a positive impact on cost [...]. Some materials which have more functionality, for example recyclability,



have a potential to increase price. And that has a negative impact on us. [...] And that's the challenge. We need to achieve this level of sustainability, but we have to do it in a way that is a positive business case or is neutral" (Module design owner, 2022). To aid the design departments in this challenge, the module design owner made a call for clear guidance on whether to take cost increases for sustainability initiatives or not and on the amount of hours that is expected to be spent on sustainability related tasks. Lastly, the sustainability champion in the blades module mentioned two more challenges: the identification of hot spots and their causes, and assigning ownership over them and set targets to work towards. Here, they pointed out that responsibilities need to be made clearer and resources need to be assigned.

6.2.2.3 Integration challenges

The third sub-cluster of the sustainability challenges was coined integration challenges, as they refer to the lack of integration of the sustainability strategy and its targets throughout the organisation and in the design departments (see Figure 25).



Figure 25: Interview findings: Integration challenges

The senior function lead in particular described the issue as follows: "So, to some extent the actual sustainability targets, you know they were a commitment that's been made in the town hall, but I don't really see that we have an agreed and a feasible route to meet them so far" (Senior function lead, 2022). This perception is supplemented by the following statement from


the module design owner: "It doesn't feel yet that we've got a concrete plan that we're now actioning in a very focused way" (Module design owner, 2022). These perceptions lead to scepticism towards the organisation's organisational-level sustainability commitments: "In terms of the new ambitious commitments that Vestas has made, I see that there's still, there's not really a very strong buy in from blades module yet." (Senior function lead, 2022)

The overarching theme is the lack of integration of the sustainability commitments through, e.g. sustainability requirements and quantifiable targets in the product development process, which makes it challenging for the design teams to focus on sustainability activities. For instance, there is a lack of integration of impact quantification tools like LCA and concepts like Eco-Design in the product development process: *"It is definitely not specific enough. So, the eco-design is mentioned, you know LCA awareness is mentioned. That's where we need to have some strengthening […]. So, there's a mention of it, but it doesn't really explain or push for specifics"* (Sustainability champion, 2022). With this lack of integration, there are no sustainability KPIs at the gates of the product development process and sustainability performance is subsequently not assessed, or if assessed it does not have a significant impact on design: "[...] KPIs for example don't yet include this sustainability really. It's yeah, we're judged on the cost and the quality and the speed that we can get things done really [...]" (Senior function lead, 2022).

After mentioning that there is awareness of the overall sustainability strategy and its organisational-level targets, the Senior function lead pointed out the integration challenge: "Either we need, like, the blades module, for example, needs to be given a KPI or something from management to say that in X number of years [...] we need to see the percentage of recyclability increasing or we need it in the actual product requirements. [...] And either way can work, [...] I think it just needs to be tied into the bigger strategy of Vestas. At the moment we're not going because we don't have these targets and no one's pushing for them" (Senior function lead, 2022).

Judging from the statements of the interviewees, there is currently a lack of integration of the sustainability strategy in the organisation and in its product development process. Especially the lack of lower-level targets and KPIs is pointed out as a severe hinderance for the design departments to allocate time and resources to sustainability related tasks. Finally, it seems to



be necessary to implement sustainability KPIs at the gates of the product development process, so that Eco-Design can be applied more systematically and LCA results can have an impact on design choices instead of being de-coupled from the process.

6.2.2.4 Summary of sustainability challenges

All in all, the interviews uncovered a number of sustainability challenges that the blades department is facing. These were grouped in design challenges, resource challenges, and integration challenges. The identified design challenges revolve around trade-offs in the design process and between different product performance parameters, the difficulty of assessing impacts of alternative materials, and the engineers' perceived little influence on sustainability. Here, the interviewees wished for a clear expectation for which trade-offs to accept and for sustainability design requirements, which would enable a collectively driven effort to design more sustainable products.

The second group of challenges are resource challenges in terms of time allocation for sustainability related tasks (as long as there is no clear target to work towards), managing suppliers, creating neutral or positive business cases for sustainability projects and defining responsibilities for assessing environmental impacts and hot spots. To overcome these challenges, it was suggested that lower-level targets should be set, clear expectations regarding cost limits of sustainability projects should be communicated by management, and responsibilities should be clarified by management. Finally, integration challenges have been identified, such as the scepticism towards organisational-level targets as no feasible route of delivering upon them is seen, and the integration of sustainability in the product development process, where there is currently a lack of sustainability design requirements and KPIs, and sustainability is not assessed at the gates, which renders LCA and Eco-Design ineffective. With the introduction of sustainability product-level sustainability requirements and sustainability KPIs within the process, this challenge should be overcome.



6.2.3 Interview findings: Sustainability opportunities

Apart from sustainability challenges, there are numerous sustainability opportunities and action suggestions pointed out by the interviewees, which are elaborated on in this section. During the analysis of the interviews, the three clusters of sustainability opportunities became evident: drivers/enablers, tools and design opportunities. The full interview transcripts can be found in Appendix A, section 3.

6.2.3.1 Drivers/enablers

The first sub-cluster of the sustainability opportunities is called drivers/enablers. When conversing about what drives the integration of sustainability in the organisation and in the respective design department, the interviewees pointed out several internal but also external drivers. Amongst the external drivers mentioned was customer demand, which automatically creates a necessity for the organisation to produce more sustainable solutions if it wants to stay competitive. Subsequently, this is one of the most impactful external drivers along with an industry consensus on the prioritisation of sustainability. Moreover, legislation that the organisation needs to comply with was identified as a driver, as well as partnerships with research facilities to i.e. stay up to date with the lates technology developments and finally the availability of substitute materials (see Figure 26). However, since this thesis has an organisation internal focus, these external drivers will not be elaborated on further here.



Figure 26: Interview findings: External drivers/enablers

The identified internal drivers/enablers revolve around clear long-term business-level commitments being translated to transparent and quantifiable annual internal targets for the different departments, including clear expectations in terms of contribution share per



department, a clear scope of resources to be used and cost limits. Additionally, sustainability requirements for the supply chain were mentioned as drivers, too (see Figure 27).



Figure 27: Interview findings: Internal drivers/enablers

As previously described in Section 6.2.2.3 Integration challenges, the buy-in in terms of the high-level business commitments needs to be improved. To do so, the long-term organisational-level commitments need to be translated to targets that the individual departments can work towards: "[...] you need to decide what you can achieve. And that's to take the high-level targets and actually cascade them down into something which you can define within your area" (Module design owner, 2022). Moreover, a trajectory of annual targets should be outlined in order to identify on an annual basis whether performance is on track: "[...] now what we have is really in top level big targets like in 2030 or 2040. But what is meant for 2022 to 2023, like where we need to be there so that we achieve the 2030 target?" (Process engineer, 2022). Annual targets would enable the different departments to spend time and resources on sustainability related tasks. However, the interviewees suggested that these targets need to fulfil a number of criteria. They need to be quantifiable, on both product-level and department-level, and the contribution per department needs to be clear, so that ownership



over e.g. certain material hot spots can be assigned, as the sustainability champion points out: "[...] it will be significant to know it [sustainability target] on turbine level and then a certain split also on annual basis, what is gonna be the pie we [blades design department] need to fulfill to improve in our performance as well, then we get more concrete" (Sustainability champion, 2022). Moreover, with the targets, clear expectations must be cascaded down as guidance for assigning resources, such as staff and working hours, to sustainability related activities: "The key thing [...] is the business needs to be completely transparent about the expectation. [...] The business needs to be really clear how much it wants this and what it's willing to put in. That's simply the point I was making" (Module design owner, 2022). Clarification as part of internal targets also includes providing a clear expectation in terms of the organisation's willingness to accept cost increases to create more sustainable solutions, which the module design owner insists on: "You have to give the team a clear scope. And if you're unwilling to take on any extra cost, the team need to know that up front. So, they don't waste their time qualifying materials which have a price delta" (Module design owner, 2022).

To summarise, quantifiable, annual targets would enable the departments to assign resources to sustainability tasks and focus on the assigned impact hot spots, track their progress and set it into perspective to the long-term organisational-level target. Additionally, these individual targets would assure the departments that they are making exactly the contribution they are expected to deliver towards the organisational-level target. Moreover, the business setting clear expectations as to how much it is willing to invest into sustainability in terms of staff and working hours would enable the departments to plan and allocate resources in line with the expectations. Finally, a clear declaration as to whether at all or how much of a cost increase for more sustainable solutions the business is willing to accept would enable the departments to make design choices accordingly and communicate with suppliers clearly and effectively on the subject.

To then further enable the design departments to focus on sustainability in their design work, sustainability needs to become a part of the product development process, as discussed in Section 6.2.2.3. Part of this integration can come from introducing product-level sustainability design requirements according to which new products need to be developed. Another part is the integration of product-level or even component-level sustainability targets at the gates of



the product development process, which would enable the design departments to actively work towards them in a step-by-step fashion.

Finally, the interviewees evaluated that sustainability requirements for the supply chain is also an enabler, as this would provide them with more guidance on how to select suppliers, what to expect from suppliers, and what to work towards in collaboration with suppliers. Moreover, they move the supply chain into a more sustainable direction driven by the demand from Vestas.

Overall, the major enablers identified by the interviewees are:

- the introduction of transparent, quantifiable, annual internal targets,
- clear expectations from management in terms of resource use and cost limits to achieve these targets,
- the introduction of sustainability-related requirements on turbine-level,
- sustainability targets at the gates of the product development process,
- sustainability requirements for suppliers.

6.2.3.2 Tools

Another part of the sustainability opportunities mentioned by the interviewees could be combined into a cluster called 'tools'. The interviewees either see a necessity to introduce these tools to enable them to work towards the targets mentioned in Section 6.2.3.1 or as something that could enhance the integration of the sustainability strategy in the design departments and the organisation as a whole. The tools suggested were divided into three groups: project analysis & prioritisation, design and information flow (see Figure 28).





Figure 28: Interview findings: Tools

The first tool for which a need was identified is a project analysis and prioritisation tool. Some assessment and tracking of sustainability projects within the blades design department had been started at the point in time when the interviews were conducted. Assessing sustainability projects was seen as difficult because several dimensions need to be taken into account. That's why a standardised assessment tool for sustainability projects that can be used across departments was suggested: *"So, we almost need a diagram where we check the projects in the three dimensions: complexity of the project with respect to market readiness or industry or supply chain readiness, the impact that it makes into targets or in the performance of overall. And in a way [...] resource needs" (Sustainability champion, 2022). This indicates that the needed tool would have to assess three dimensions. Firstly, the technology and supply chain readiness of the solutions needed to carry out the project, secondly, the project's contribution to achieving product-level and organisational-level sustainability targets and thirdly, the complexity of the project in terms of hours and resources spent, including cost.*

The second group of tools the interviewees spoke about was design tools. A need for scenario analysis and comparative analysis tools was identified: *"I think LCAs and good comparative analysis is quite important"* (Materials engineer, 2022). This would enable design departments to make informed choices and decisions on e.g., which materials to choose and which concepts to develop further. The sustainability champion identifies the need for LCA and comparative analysis to assess how much optimisation of current solutions can contribute to reaching the targets to define what a future solution needs to deliver: *"I think one thing we really need to*



some sort of LCA and Makersite [product data management software] combination. Like design choices versus the minimum we can reach with current materials versus what should be a future enabler" (Sustainability champion, 2022). A second design tool, which has recently been introduced, is a simulation software that bears the potential of both reducing material waste and project time, according to the structural engineer. "The idea of having a digital mock up blade using the [simulation software] and the new tools that we've got is that we'll go down to one, maybe even zero mock up builds. So, there's a huge amount of material save and of course, project time" (Structural engineer, 2022). This can enable the design department to contribute to the organisation's zero-waste commitment. The final design tool suggested is a catalogue of alternative/sustainable materials in the material database, which the structural engineers can choose from: "[...] if we get to one day, where we have a catalogue of, let's say, more sustainable material properties that we can use, then there's no reason why we can't design with those properties" (Structural engineer, 2022). This catalogue could enable a design on the most sustainable materials that are suitable and available. In summary, the introduction of LCA and other scenario analysis and comparative analysis tools is desired, as well as an increased use of simulation software and the creation of a catalogue with sustainable materials.

The third type of tools mentioned by the interviewees are to enhance the information and data flow within the organisation: "*If we get some help in that direction somebody is processing the data and just sharing with us*" (Process engineer, 2022). In particular, a process for a two-way information flow was suggested, where ideas, project suggestions as well as descriptions of initiatives would flow up and impact assessments in terms of contribution to the organisational-level targets of these would flow down along with a prioritisation. "[...] I obviously would like to have more concrete connection. How we can do you know, even sometimes smaller tasks and what do they serve into the horizon and into the targets or how do they serve? What's their contribution? What's the impact they will make?" (Sustainability champion, 2022). Along with this, a platform for ideas was suggested, where employees can share and discuss their ideas for sustainability initiatives.

All in all, the above suggested tools would support assessment and prioritisation of sustainability projects, design for sustainability, and the connection between the top level and the lower levels of the organisation.



6.2.3.3 Design

The remainder of the sustainability opportunities discussed in the interviews can be clustered as design opportunities. These are primarily seen in structural design, aerodynamic design, as well as in waste reduction (see Figure 29).



Figure 29: Interview findings: Design opportunities

The first design opportunity is suggested in structural design, which deals with ensure the structural integrity of the product throughout its expected lifetime. It was suggested that structural designers can work with alternative materials: "We can design with any material. Essentially, we just need to know the properties and then that feeds into how much of that material we need, what material to be using, let's say in terms of sustainability" (Structural engineer, 2022). Combined with the before mentioned catalogue of sustainable materials, this opens a clear opportunity of improving the sustainability of components and the overall product.

Moreover, when it comes to the airfoil design specifically, the option of optimising the shape for alternative materials is recognised in the aerodynamics team. *"We are looking at this sustainability from the point of view. So, what we can do in terms of shape of the airfoils and the blade that could help reduce in certain materials or making the blade more environmental friendly"* (Aerodynamic designer, 2022). Consequently, when the use of certain materials is reduced or alternative materials are introduced, both the structural design and the aerodynamic design teams are optimistic that a good design can be found.

Another design opportunity mentioned by the interviewees is waste reduction. There is a large potential of saving waste through process design and procurement. Additionally, what supports



waste reduction initiatives is the fact that waste reduction is connected to cost reduction as well, as the senior function lead points out: "And so, there's a lot of waste reduction and activities like that because of course there's a clear link to the waste reduction to not only sustainability, but also the cost and manufacturing efficiency" (Senior function lead, 2022). At the current state, sustainability initiatives can best be justified when they have a cost reduction effect at the same time.

6.2.3.4 Summary of sustainability opportunities

In summary, through the interviews, a number of sustainability opportunities were identified and grouped into drivers/enablers, tools, and design opportunities.

The major drivers/enablers are:

- the introduction of transparent, quantifiable, annual internal targets,
- clear expectations from management in terms of resource use and cost limits to achieve these targets,
- the introduction of sustainability requirements on turbine-level,
- sustainability-related targets at the gates of the product development process,
- and the introduction of sustainability requirements for suppliers.

The suggested tools revolve around

- analysis and prioritisation of sustainability projects,
- enabling design for sustainability through scenario analysis, comparative analysis, simulation, and a sustainable material catalogue,
- and improving the connection between the top level and the lower levels of the organisation with the help of processes and idea sharing platforms.

Finally, design opportunities are seen in structural and aerodynamic design working with alternative materials and in waste reduction, which goes hand in hand with cost reduction.



6.2.4 Conclusions on the bottom-up approach

The intent of the bottom-up approach was to answer the second part of the research question, which is about finding out how to improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products. To do so, seven interviews with employees in the blades design department have been conducted, as well as desk research and observation. The analysis of the findings shows that a clarification of expectations and targets from the management level, the improvement of governance and the introduction of tools are necessary to improve the capacity of the design departments to design more sustainable products (see Figure 30).



Figure 30: Conclusions: Bottom-up approach

The analysis shows that a number of expectations and targets need to be clarified. Firstly, clear, transparent, quantifiable, annual product-level targets need to be introduced including a clarification on the expected contribution per design department. This will enable the design departments to work purposefully on their individual hot spots while resting assured that their work contributes to achieving the organisational-level target. Having quantifiable targets ensures that progress can be measured, and actions can be taken accordingly. Additionally, it will enable the design departments to spend more resources on designing more sustainable products. Secondly, management needs to clearly communicate their expectations on which trade-offs should be made by the design departments. This includes both design trade-offs,



such as product performance, weight and lifetime, as well as how much resources are expected to be committed and whether cost increases are tolerated for the sake of sustainability improvements. If this is given, design departments will clear boundaries within which they can design without having to worry about spending time and resources on designs that are going to be scrapped due to i.e. an increase in cost. Thirdly, sustainability needs to be made a requirement in the product development process in the form of product-level sustainability design requirements as well as KPIs at the gates of the process. Once established this would on the one hand give more weight to the environmental impact assessments provided by LCA during the process and on the other hand enforce the usage of the existing sustainability related guidelines, like the Eco-Design guideline or CO₂ footprint guideline, which enable the design departments to effectively tackle the hot spots identified by LCA.

The second conclusion is that the governance around sustainability needs improvement. Here, the design departments would benefit from the implementation of a clear process for a twoway information flow. This process would funnel ideas for sustainability projects and initiatives from the lower levels of the organisation up to the top level, where impact assessments can be made in relation to the organisational-level targets. These impact assessments can be passed down, along with information on whether the project should be prioritised or not. Additionally, ownership impact hot spots, should be clearly assigned to design departments for them to understand where to focus their efforts and what initiatives to prioritise. Ideally, this should be done in combination with a quantifiable target. Moreover, it needs to be clarified which entities in the organisation are responsible for which kind of impact assessment. For instance, whether the environment department is supposed to do all assessments and cascade the results down to the design departments, or whether the design departments should be able to make assessments on their own for different concepts or for product upgrades. Lastly, the ownership of project execution needs to be clarified. This includes making clear which projects and initiatives are steered by global functions like the sustainability department or the environment department, and which projects and initiatives the design departments have ownership over.

The third conclusion of the bottom-up approach is that design departments require the introduction of additional tools to improve their capacity of designing more sustainable products. Amongst these suggested tools is a standardised three-dimensional project



assessment tool, which enables the design departments to prioritise projects according to their technology and supply chain readiness, their impact towards the organisational-level targets and their complexity in terms of working hours, resources and costs. Another tool is proposed to conduct scenario and comparative analysis of e.g. different concepts or optimisations of conventional solutions vs. complete re-designs. This tool could then be used throughout the course of the product development process once sustainability requirements are introduced. Moreover, increased use of simulation software was suggested to reduce the amount of material and money spent on mock-ups and prototypes. Finally, a catalogue of alternative, sustainable materials should be introduced in the database the design engineers use. Once these materials have gone through the qualification process, they will enable engineers to improve components' and products' sustainability by adjusting the design to the new materials.



7 Discussion & reflection

In this section the findings of this study, as well as the study's limitations, advantages and disadvantages are discussed and reflected upon.

7.1 Findings compared to previous research

This section discusses how the findings from the empirical research in this study compare to findings from existing research that was reviewed in Section 3.

To start with, Lozano (2015) pinpoints the internal drivers of corporate sustainability as leadership and business cases. This can be confirmed by the findings from the interviews. Strong leadership including clear commitments and expectations have been identified as imperative for the departments to work effectively on designing more sustainable products. Moreover, the business case has been emphasised as a very important factor in determining whether sustainability projects are pursued or not. In addition, findings from Engert & Baumgartner (2016) can be confirmed stating that a fit between strategy, organisational structure and organisational processes needs to exist for a sustainability strategy to be implemented successfully. A plethora of statements from the interviewees leads to the conclusion that the absence of sustainability requirements and KPIs in the product development process hinders the development of more sustainable products. Moreover, some of the findings from Bey et al. (2013) are being confirmed through the findings from the interviews as well. For instance, the barrier of lack of information on environmental impacts is evident through the interviewees' need for impact assessments, as well as scenario and comparative analysis tools. Similar to Bey et al.'s (2013) results, this study found an emphasis on the need for alternative materials, as well as resources. Their recommendations of establishing a clear management structure and improving information flows are reflected in the interviewees' calls for assigning ownership of projects and hot spots and establishment of a two-way communication process. However, the findings of this research differ from the above to the extent that these are specific to a design department in a large organisation. Another difference is the identification of the need for specific tools used for the design of more sustainable products.

Manninen & Huiskonen (2022) find that it is harder for employees to relate to organisationallevel sustainability targets than it is to business unit or role dependent sustainability targets.



This finding can also be confirmed by this research, with multiple interviewees asking for cascading down the organisational-level targets to be able to define what they mean for them and their department. This makes the finding even more significant that both the top level and the lower levels of the organisation agree upon the importance of translating organisational-level sustainability targets to product-level and beyond to design departments. This finding provides a clear argument for applying the developed target translation process.

7.2 General applicability of the findings

Here it is discussed whether and to what extent the findings can be applied in other organisations and for other types of targets.

The aim of this thesis was to present the findings in a way that it would be possible for other organisations to draw knowledge from them. For instance, for the target translation process, a more generic flow diagram has been created (see Figure 19) and the calculation process for the material hot spots have been illustrated in general terms, as well (see Figure 20 & Figure 21). Since these are still based upon this specific case study, their applicability in other organisations needs to be proven to be able to generate generic processes. Moreover, other organisations can draw on the findings from the interviews, together with the existing literature on the topic to improve the implementation of their sustainability strategies.

Moreover, the simplified and generalised translation process should also be applicable to other targets, such as product-level waste reduction targets (for more on waste reduction and circularity, see Appendix A, sections 1 and 2). In principle, it should be possible to replace the life cycle GHG emissions per product in Figure 19, with the amount of production waste per product, while the rest of the process remains the same. As such, the amount of production waste per product would be combined with the respective sales forecast, leading to a total waste forecast (no-action scenario). This forecast can then be compared to the reduction pathway (target-scenario) that has been created when setting the organisational-level waste reduction target. The gap can be assessed, and the annual allowed waste (derived from the target scenario) can be divided onto the different products according to their share of annual sales to produce annual product-level targets.

Lukas Allekotte



7.3 Scientific contribution and contribution to Sustainable Design Engineering

This research fills the gap between the literature that focuses on setting organisational-level sustainability targets, like SBTs, and the literature that focuses on translating product-level sustainability targets to the different manufacturing steps like the sustainability cone framework. To fill this gap, this thesis proposes a translation process for existing organisational-level sustainability targets to product-level. Moreover, the research confirms findings of prior research on drivers, success factors and barriers for the implementation of sustainability strategies. It adds further depth to the literature by providing insights into what support design departments need from the organisation to be able to focus on the development of more sustainable products.

Additionally, this master thesis contributes to the field of Sustainable Design Engineering in several ways. Firstly, it identifies the needs of design departments for designing more sustainable products. Sustainable design engineers can draw on these findings for their research or for implementation in organisations. Secondly, this master thesis contributes with a translation process for sustainability targets, which can be applied by sustainable design engineers as a tool to bridge the gap between formulation and implementation of sustainability strategies in organisations. Finally, when implemented, both the target translation process and the actions derived from the conclusions of the interviews have the potential to greatly improve the capacity of designers and engineers in design departments to create more sustainable products.

7.4 Discussion of the project approach and limitations

In this section, the project approach, as well as methods and choices are discussed including advantages, disadvantages and limitations.

The overall project approach, divided into top-down and bottom-up approaches provided both insights into the mindset, perceptions, decisions and management approach at the top level of the organisation and into the mindset, perceptions, needs and way of working at the lower levels of the organisation. Subsequently, it supported the author in gaining insights into both perspectives, as well as gathering knowledge and information from both sides. In addition to that, it helped structuring the work and structuring the thesis report. However, there is improvement potential. For instance, as part of the bottom-up approach, further interviews with



representatives from other design departments could have been conducted to get a more complete picture on their needs for designing more sustainable products.

In the top-down approach, the target translation approach requires a lot of sales data, which has a direct influence on the distribution of targets across the product portfolio. The disadvantage of this is that the sales data needs to reach far out into the future, where it becomes less accurate. Therefore, it is even more important, as Rekker et al. (2022) state in their Paris-Compliant-Pathway, to revise and re-align the product-level targets every time new sales data becomes available. Another factor that can limit the accuracy of the product-level targets is the lack of reflection of different product configurations in LCAs. Like many other products, wind turbines come in different configurations depending on the site conditions. These configurations often have different environmental impacts. For instance, one variable in the configuration of a wind turbine is the hub height, or tower height, which has a large influence on GHG emission intensity of the turbine. This is due to the high emission intensity of steel used in the tower. An onshore turbine with a 100m hub height has a lower GHG emission intensity than the same turbine with a 150m hub height, given the same wind conditions. In the wind industry, LCAs are commonly conducted for a standard configuration of the turbine, with one single hub height in a certain wind condition. If now the LCA data of this standard configuration is taken to calculate product-level targets and track progress toward the target, it might skew the picture, a number of products installed in the given year might have actually been installed in a different configuration with a different hub height. This could be circumvented by basing the GHG emission intensity calculation per product on the amount of material that has actually been purchased.

Another point of discussion is that the process of setting annual product-level targets is based on eco-efficiency. This because the Scope 3 target is a reduction target, which aspires a gradual reduction of products' emission intensities. This can be a suitable for improving the emission intensity of existing products, however, it might not be the most beneficial concept to use for the development of new solutions, as it reduces unsustainability instead of creating sustainability. In its place, the eco-effectiveness concept could be applied, which differs from eco-efficiency in being an absolute design approach. Introduced and developed by McDonough and Braungart (2002) eco-effectiveness and its application in the Cradle-to-Cradle concept strives to create products that have a beneficial impact on the environment. As such, it could



be favourable to develop new solutions according to the principles of eco-effectiveness rather than eco-efficiency. However, the downside of eco-effective products is that they can perform worse in current sustainability assessments, like LCA, since these assessments are geared towards assessing eco-efficiency (Bjørn & Hauschild, 2013). Consequently, LCA would either have to be adapted or other assessment methods would have to be introduced to aid the development of eco-effective products.

7.5 Outlook and further research

To create better cohesion and to make it easier for organisations to take an integrated approach for setting their sustainability targets, the target translation approach presented in this study could be combined with the findings from other existing studies and put into an encompassing framework. This combined framework could contain findings on SBT setting methods from Faria & Labutong (2020) and Bjørn et al. (2021) account for Paris-aligned organisational-level target setting. For the following translation to product-level, the translation approach presented in this thesis could be supplemented with Moshrefi et al.'s (2020) Total Environmental Impact-Total Profit matrix for portfolio management to achieve a more thorough prioritisation of products and product families. Once product-level targets are formulated, Rödger et al.'s (2016; 2019) sustainability cone framework can be utilised to translate the target further and implement life cycle thinking in manufacturing, if applicable.

Further research should be done investigating the general applicability of this study's target translation process including material hot spot identification and determination of contribution share per design department. Additionally, it should be further explored to what extent the target translation process can be applied to non-GHG emission targets, such as circularity targets or waste reduction targets. Finally, the above-described integration of the target translation process with other research, concepts and frameworks from Faria & Labutong (2020), Bjørn et al. (2021), Moshrefi et al. (2020) and Rödger et al. (2016; 2019) could be pursued further.



8 Conclusion

The objective of this report was to answer the research question and its sub-questions posed in Section 4 to fill a gap in existing literature on the translation of sustainability targets in organisations as well as to add new insights to the literature on implementing and executing corporate sustainability strategies.

The first part of the research question '*How can organisational-level sustainability targets be translated into product-level targets*?' was answered via the application of a top-down approach (see Figure 3). With the help of the top-down approach, a process for translating an organisational-level SBT to product level was produced, which is illustrated in generic terms in Figure 31. The process has the prospect of being applicable for other organisations, as well as for other types of sustainability targets, such as waste reduction targets (see Section 7.2).



Figure 31: Conclusion - Generic process for translation of an organisational-level target to product-level

During the creation of the translation process, several sub-questions were answered. Firstly, the benefit of translating sustainability targets within the organisation can be identified as improved alignment and relatability towards the organisational-level targets for lower-level



departments, easier allocation of resources and launch of initiatives, and trackability of progress towards the organisational-level targets. Secondly, the tools, inputs and steps necessary to translate the target are listed in Figure 31, with the most important inputs being an organisational-level target including target scenario, sales forecasts as well as environmental impact data per product (e.g. GHG emission intensity from LCA). Thirdly, once product-level targets are set, design department's contribution share towards these can be determined. One option for this is to link components to their respective design departments and subsequently group the product LCA by design department. Another option is to identify the design department's material consumption per material type and multiply this by the material's emission factors (see detailed conclusion on the top-down approach in Section 6.1.5).

The second part of the research question '*How to improve the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products?* ' was answered by applying a bottom-up approach (see Figure 22). A major part of the bottom-up approach was the conduction of seven semi-structured interviews, which also helped answer the remaining sub-questions. The qualitative analysis of these interviews, combined with the findings from document reviews and observation within the organisation, showed that the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products can be improved in three major ways: by the clarification of expectations and targets through management, by improving governance and by introducing tools that support the design of more sustainable products (see Figure 32).





Figure 32: Summary: Improving the capacity of design departments to design more sustainable products

The findings from the bottom-up approach confirm the need for a target translation process developed through the top-down approach. Moreover, they confirm previous research on success factors for the implementation of sustainability strategies (see Section 7.1). Additionally, they provide insight into the specific needs of design departments to design more sustainable products. The findings from the top-down approach contribute to filling a gap in literature. Previously, there was existing literature on setting organisational-level targets that are aligned with the Paris Agreement (namely on SBT methods) and literature on how to translate product-level sustainability targets to manufacturing. Now, the process target created in this study on translating an organisational-level target to product-level fills the gap that existed between the two types of literature.

Further research should be done investigating the general applicability of this study's target translation process to different organisations and to different targets. Moreover, the target translation process could be integrated with higher-level and lower-level translation processes from existing literature.



References

Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting Semi-Structured Interviews. In Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation (pp. 492–505). John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated. https://doi.org/0.1002/9781119171386.ch19.

Bey, N., Hauschild, M. Z., & McAloone, T. C. (2013). Drivers and barriers for implementation of environmental strategies in manufacturing companies. *CIRP Annals -Manufacturing Technology*, 62(1), 43–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cirp.2013.03.001

- Bjørn, A., Bey, N., Georg, S., Røpke, I., & Hauschild, M. Z. (2016). Is Earth recognized as a finite system in corporate responsibility reporting? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 163, 106–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.12.095
- Bjørn, A., & Hauschild, M. Z. (2013). Absolute versus Relative Environmental Sustainability: What can the Cradle-to-Cradle and Eco-efficiency Concepts Learn from Each Other? Bjørn and Hauschild Cradle to Cradle versus Eco-efficiency. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 17(2), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2012.00520.x
- Bjorn, A., Lloyd, S., & Matthews, D. (2021). From the Paris Agreement to corporate climate commitments: evaluation of seven methods for setting "science-based" emission targets. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(5). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ABE57B
- Bjørn, A., Tilsted, J. P., Addas, A., & Lloyd, S. M. (2022). Can Science-Based Targets Make the Private Sector Paris-Aligned? A Review of the Emerging Evidence. *Current Climate Change Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1007/S40641-022-00182-W
- Bonou, A., Laurent, A., & Olsen, S. I. (2016). Life cycle assessment of onshore and offshore wind energy-from theory to application. *Applied Energy*, 180, 327–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.07.058
- Bonou, A., Olsen, S. I., & Hauschild, M. Z. (2015). Introducing life cycle thinking in product development – A case from Siemens Wind Power. *CIRP Annals*, 64(1), 45–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CIRP.2015.04.053
- Bovea, M. D., & Pérez-Belis, V. (2011). A taxonomy of ecodesign tools for integrating environmental requirements into the product design process. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.07.012
- Brambila-Macias, S. A., & Sakao, T. (2021). Effective ecodesign implementation with the support of a lifecycle engineer. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 279, 123520. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2020.123520

CDP. (2022). Home - CDP. https://www.cdp.net/en



- Center for Sustainable Systems. (2021). *Wind Energy Factsheet*. CSS07-09. https://css.umich.edu/factsheets/wind-energy-factsheet
- Ceschin, F., & Gaziulusoy, I. (2020). *Design for Sustainability A Multi-level Framework* from Products to Socio-technical Systems. www.routledge.com/

Corporate Knights. (2022). 2022 Global 100 / Corporate Knights. https://www.corporateknights.com/rankings/global-100-rankings/2022-global-100-rankings/

- Dahlmann, F., Branicki, L., & Brammer, S. (2019). Managing Carbon Aspirations: The Influence of Corporate Climate Change Targets on Environmental Performance. *Journal* of Business Ethics, 158(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10551-017-3731-Z/TABLES/5
- de Pauw, I. C., Kandachar, P., & Karana, E. (2015). Assessing sustainability in natureinspired design. *International Journal of Sustainable Engineering*, 8(1), 5–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/19397038.2014.977373
- de Vries, E. (2020, November 30). Vestas' new CTO Anders Nielsen on the benefits of modularity — and trucks / Windpower Monthly. Wind Power Monthly. https://www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1701392/vestas-new-cto-anders-nielsenbenefits-modularity-%E2%80%94-trucks
- Dimitrov, R. S. (2016). The Paris Agreement on Climate Change: Behind Closed Doors. *Global Environmental Politics*, *16*(3), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1162/GLEP_A_00361
- Dow Jones Indices. (2022). S&P Dow Jones Indices. https://www.spglobal.com/spdji/en/
- Ehrenfeld, J. (2005). Eco-efficiency: Philosophy, Theory, and Tools. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, 9(4), 6–8. http://mitpress.mit.edu/jie
- Ehrenfeld, J. (2008). Sustainability by design: A subversive strategy for transforming our consumer culture. Yale University Press. https://www-jstor-org.zorac.aub.aau.dk/stable/j.ctt1np8xc

Enercon. (2021). Enercon Sustainability Report 2020. https://www.enercon.de/en/company/sustainability/

- Engert, S., & Baumgartner, R. J. (2016). Corporate sustainability strategy Bridging the gap between formulation and implementation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *113*, 822– 834. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2015.11.094
- Faber, N., Jorna, R., & van Engelen, J. O. (2005). THE SUSTAINABILITY OF "SUSTAINABILITY"-A STUDY INTO THE CONCEPTUAL FOUNDATIONS OF



THE NOTION OF "SUSTAINABILITY." Journal of Environmental Assessment Policy and Management, 7(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.2307/enviassepolimana.7.1.1

- Falkner, R. (2016). The Paris Agreement and the new logic of international climate politics. *International Affairs*, *92*(5), 1107–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12708
- Fargnoli, M., de Minicis, M., & Tronci, M. (2014). Design Management for Sustainability: An integrated approach for the development of sustainable products. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2013.09.005
- Faria, P. C. S., & Labutong, N. (2020). A description of four science-based corporate GHG target-setting methods. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, 11(3), 591–612. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-03-2017-0031
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). *Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800405284363
- General Electric. (2022). *GE Sustainability | Building a World That Works for Tomorrow*. https://www.ge.com/sustainability
- GHG Protocol. (2013). Technical Guidance for Calculating Scope 3 Emissions (version 1.0).
- GHG Protocol. (2019). Scope 1 & 2 GHG Inventory Guidance.
- Giesekam, J., Norman, J., Garvey, A., & Betts-Davies, S. (2021). Science-based targets: On target? *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *13*(4), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU13041657
- GRI. (2002). GRI Sustainability Reporting Guidelines 2002.
- Hauschild, M. Z., Kara, S., & Røpke, I. (2020). Absolute sustainability: Challenges to life cycle engineering. *CIRP Annals*, 69(2), 533–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CIRP.2020.05.004
- Hax, A. C., & Majluf, N. S. (1983). The Use of the Growth-Share Matrix in Strategic Planning. 13(1), 46–60. https://www.jstor.org/stable/25060365
- Huesemann, M. H. (2004). The failure of eco-efficiency to guarantee sustainability: Future challenges for industrial ecology. *Environmental Progress*, 23(4), 264–270. https://doi.org/10.1002/EP.10044
- IPCC. (2018). IPCC Summary for Policymakers. In *Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC* Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change. IPCC.



IPOL. (2021). Moving towards Zero-Emission Steel: Technologies Available, Prospects, Timeline and Costs. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2021/695484/IPOL_STU(2021)

695484_EN.pdf

- ISO. (2006). Environmental management: life cycle assessment; Principles and Framework.
- ISO 14006. (2020). ISO 14006:2020 Environmental management systems Guidelines for incorporating ecodesign.
- ISS ESG. (2022). ISS ESG / ISS. https://www.issgovernance.com/esg/
- Jorgensen, D. L. (1989). The Methodology of Participant Observation. In Participant Observation (pp. 12–25). SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412985376
- Krabbe, O., Linthorst, G., Blok, K., Crijns-Graus, W., van Vuuren, D. P., Höhne, N., Faria, P., Aden, N., & Pineda, A. C. (2015). Aligning corporate greenhouse-gas emissions targets with climate goals. *Nature Climate Change*, 5(12), 1057–1060. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE2770
- Locke, E. A., & Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: A 35-year odyssey. *American Psychologist*, 57(9), 705–717. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.57.9.705
- Lozano, R. (2015). A Holistic Perspective on Corporate Sustainability Drivers. Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management, 22(1), 32–44. https://doi.org/10.1002/CSR.1325
- Luttropp, C., & Lagerstedt, J. (2006). EcoDesign and The Ten Golden Rules: generic advice for merging environmental aspects into product development. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 14(15–16), 1396–1408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2005.11.022
- Luz, L. M. da, Francisco, A. C. de, Piekarski, C. M., & Salvador, R. (2018). Integrating life cycle assessment in the product development process: A methodological approach. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 193, 28–42.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2018.05.022

Manninen, K., & Huiskonen, J. (2022). Factors influencing the implementation of an integrated corporate sustainability and business strategy. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 343, 131036. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2022.131036

Margolick, M., & Russel, D. (2001). Corporate Greenhouse Gas Reduction Targets.



McDonough, W., & Braungart, M. (2002). Cradle to Cradle: Remaking the Way We Make Things (1st ed.). North Point Press. https://books.google.dk/books?hl=de&lr=&id=KFX5RprPGQ0C&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq =Cradle+to+cradle:+Remakingthe+way+we+make+things&ots=isGmA5ujIn&sig=TtT3 Xpj-UUE of Each Each Ker04.8 and in according to complexe of a Complexe 200 of 20 and 10% 20% 20 with the formula of the factor of the complexe of the complexe of the Complexe 20% of 20 and 10% 20% of 20% of 20 and 10% 20% of 20%

HUi_gfEoibFJrfpKy94&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Cradle%20to%20cradle%3A%20 Remakingthe%20way%20we%20make%20things&f=false

- Moshrefi, S., Abdoli, S., Kara, S., & Hauschild, M. (2020). Product portfolio analysis towards operationalising science-based targets. *Procedia CIRP*, 90, 377–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PROCIR.2020.02.127
- Nordex. (2022). Nordex Sustainability Report 2021: Together for change Wind for a sustainable future. https://www.nordex-online.com/en/sustainability/
- Ostrom, E. (2010). Polycentric systems for coping with collective action and global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change*, *20*(4), 550–557. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2010.07.004
- Pigosso, D. C. A., & McAloone, T. C. (2015). Supporting the Development of Environmentally Sustainable PSS by Means of the Ecodesign Maturity Model. *Procedia CIRP*, 30, 173–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PROCIR.2015.02.091
- Randers, J. (2012). Greenhouse gas emissions per unit of value added ("GEVA") A corporate guide to voluntary climate action. *Energy Policy*, 48, 46–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENPOL.2012.04.041

Razdan, P., & Garrett, P. (2019).

Life Cycle Assessment of Electricity Production from an onshore V150-4.2 MW Wind Plant. https://www.vestas.com/content/dam/vestascom/global/en/sustainability/reports-andratings/lcas/LCA%20of%20Electricity%20Production%20from%20an%20onshore%20

V15042MW%20Wind%20PlantFinal.pdf.coredownload.inline.pdf

- Rekker, S., Ives, M., Wade, B., Greig, C., Webb, L., Rekker, S., Ives, M., Wade, B., Webb, L., & Greig, C. (2022). *Measuring corporate Paris Compliance using a strict sciencebased approach*.
- Rietbergen, M. G., & Blok, K. (2010). Setting SMART targets for industrial energy use and industrial energy efficiency. *Energy Policy*, 38, 4339–4354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.03.062



- Rietbergen, M. G., van Rheede, A., & Blok, K. (2015). The target-setting process in the CO2 Performance Ladder: Does it lead to ambitious goals for carbon dioxide emission reduction? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *103*, 549–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JCLEPRO.2014.09.046
- Rödger, J.-M., & Bey, N. (2019). Sustainability assessment in manufacturing and target setting in highly automated production. *Sustainable Production, Life Cycle Engineering and Management*, 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93730-4_4/FIGURES/4
- Rödger, J.-M., Bey, N., & Alting, L. (2016). The Sustainability Cone-A holistic framework to integrate sustainability thinking into manufacturing. *CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology*, 65, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cirp.2016.04.033
- Rogelj, J., Geden, O., Cowie, A., & Reisinger, A. (2021). Net-zero emissions targets are vague: three ways to fix. *Nature 2021 591:7850*, *591*(7850), 365–368. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-021-00662-3
- Rosenberg, A., Rohde, C., Kohlhaas, M., Eichhammer, W., & Schlomann, B. (2012). Energy efficiency targets for industry-evaluating implementation options. In ECEEE 2012 SUMMER STUDY on EnERgY EffiCiEnCY in inDUSTRY.
- SASB. (2018). WIND TECHNOLOGY & PROJECT DEVELOPERS Sustainability Accounting Standard.
- Science Based Targets. (2015). SECTORAL DECARBONIZATION APPROACH (SDA): A method for setting corporate emission reduction targets in line with climate science.
- Science Based Targets. (2021). SBTi Corporate Manual Version 2.0.
- Science Based Targets. (2022). Partners Science Based Targets.

https://sciencebasedtargets.org/about-us/partners

- Siemens Gamesa. (2019). Environmental Product Declaration SG 8.0-167 DD.
- Siemens Gamesa. (2021). Sustainability Strategy 2021-2040: Sustainability vision towards 2040 aiming at becoming a sustainability leader.

https://www.siemensgamesa.com/sustainability

Silverman, D. (2014). Interpreting Qualitative Data.

- Stake, R. E. (1995). The Art of Case Study Research. SAGE Publications Inc.
- Stewart, E., & Deodhar, A. (2009). A Corporate Finance Approach to Climate-stabilizing Targets ("C-FACT"). www.autodesk.com/green
- UNEP. (2016). *The Emissions Gap Report 2016 A UNEP Synthesis Report*. http://uneplive.unep.org/theme/index/13#egr



- UNEP. (2021). Emissions Gap Report 2021: The Heat Is On A World of Climate Promises Not Yet Delivered.
- United Nations. (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future.
- United Nations. (2015). UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, Adoption of the Paris Agreement.
- Vestas. (2022a). Carbon Footprint.

https://www.vestas.com/en/sustainability/environment/carbon-footprint

- Vestas. (2022b). *Reports & Ratings*. https://www.vestas.com/en/sustainability/reports-and-ratings
- Vestas. (2022c). Sustainability Strategy.

https://www.vestas.com/en/sustainability/sustainability-strategy

- Vestas. (2022d). Leading the energy transition Sustainability Report 2021. https://www.vestas.com/content/dam/vestas-com/global/en/investor/reports-andpresentations/financial/2021/Sustainability_Report_2021.pdf.coredownload.inline.pdf
- Vestas. (2022e). Vestas Annual Report 2021.
- Wind Europe. (2022). *Wind energy in Europe: 2021 Statistics and the outlook for 2022-2026*. https://windeurope.org/intelligence-platform/product/wind-energy-in-europe-2021statistics-and-the-outlook-for-2022-2026/#overview
- Wright, C., & Nyberg, D. (2017). An inconvenient truth: How organizations translate climate change into business as usual. *Academy of Management Journal*, 60(5), 1633–1661. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2015.0718